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1. Introduction

Resolving atwo decale-long conflict is bound to be plagued by uncertainties. However a
large degreeof certainty can be ensured if at least one key player is firmly committed to
the values of democracy and human rights and the others have readlistic expedations of
the outcome. The party firmly articulating these benignant values can give the ordinary
people the necessary leeway to constrain the others. In our instance where the key players
are the Government, Norway and the LTTE, these values appea to be in abeyance They
are aknowledged, and then largely in a token manner, when something embarrassing
crops up that is too blatant to be denied. Such has been the case with child conscription
by the LTTE.

We shall see that the aedibility of the peace process hinges on the issue of child
conscription because all that is palpably going wrong is intimately linked to it. Although
extortion by the LTTE is a major irritation, it is the auelty of child conscription and its
sinister purpose that continues to erode the acnfidence of Tamil civilians in the peace
process The offensive military build up it signifies, about which the LTTE is now
unhelpfully cocky, inevitably triggers kepticism in the South and among the amed
forces, resulting in critical tensions. We have witnessed eruptions in the East that will be
taken up below. The real concerns of the Muslims are being dangerously mismanaged.

These developments have shown that the Government, although clealy not wanting a
return to war, has been manipulative, rather than principled, in its approac to the pea@
process Its appeaance of walking on thin ice, without a tangible position on human
rights and justice, has added to the fears of the civilian population should there be a
return to war. The Tamils in the East in particular have vivid memories of the state forces
going on the rampage under the previous UNP government in 1990(seeour Reports 4-8
and Special Reports 1-3).

The lack of clear-cut values and priorities emerges in the Government's pubic relations.
The scandal of large-scale child conscription in the East had been mounting from August
2001 leading to Amnesty International issuing two reports this yea. Following the
seond last March, Defence Minister Marapone was asked about it by the BBC
Sinhalese Service. Instead of evading the question, as the Minster could have done by
saying that Norway is looking into such complaints, he described the reports of
conscription as 'unconfirmed gossip' of which the Government had no evidence

Rather than reassure the Sinhalese population that the Government was in control of the
process it did the opposite. By May the Government had become wary of playing the
LTTE's advocae and felt a need to tell the Sinhalese population that the LTTE were
sadly mistaken if they thought they were taking them for a ride. Two articles written in
Sinhalese by a journalist confidante of the Prime Minister appeaed in the Lankadeepa of
16" and 23" May 2002 These purportedly described the LTTE's grategy and how the
Prime Minister, whom the LTTE will lean is no fool, would med them in war. In such



an event, acarding to the writer, the Prime Minister would have the US Navy, the Indian
Air Force and the rest of the world behind him.

Such harmful public relations are aconsequence of inexcusable wishful thinking about
the LTTE's disposition at the outset. It does not leave the peace processlooking honest or
benign. Such wishful thinking based on a distortion of ground redities is also supported
by key intellectuals and organisations in the South (e.g. press $atements and articles in
ealy March). Who is going to be answerable if the civilians in the North-East are again
going to be caight upin awar such as one described by the Lankadeepa columnist?

We see the close relation of these pernicious developments to child conscription. The
MoU made matters worse by giving the LTTE free acessto conscript children in urban
areas. We pointed out in our last report that the LTTE leader's public denial of child
conscription at the press conference of 10" April was dishonest. In fad following Pottu
Amman's arrival in Batticaloa District in late April, there has been a sharp increase in
conscription. Once more, as in September-October 2001, there ae press gangs visiting
schoals and villages and hauling away screaming children in tractor-trail ers.

Moreover, quite independently of other considerations, can one, as the Government,
Norway and many in the peace community do, describe the process as benign and
hopeful when the situation as regards child conscription has become in fad considerably
worse. The MoU brokered by Norway has opened upthe government-controlled areas to
such adivity with no credible restraint. In Batticaloa where the situation took a turn for
the worse, a number of complaints have been made to the Monitoring Misson (SLMM)
under the aegis of Norway. But the SLMM has not succeealed in getting the LTTE to
release asingle conscript.

Many would argue that we have misconstrued Norway's role, that it is only a passive
ador, that the responsibil ity to expose wrongdoing rests elsewhere and that itsreal role is
confidence building. However, there is little cause for confidence among the vulnerable
sedions - the civilian population in the North-East and the thousands of child conscripts
who want to go home.

We have no doubt that the Norwegians work hard and sincerely behind the scenes in an
attempt to further the objedive of peace However, they are in part responsible for
misjudgements that have enabled the LTTE to widen the scope of child conscription
under the mver of peace We shall moreover see that some statements made by
Norwegians in an attempt not to blame dther of the two parties, leave the civilians
feeling that their concerns do not count (seeSedion 11). Thisis not confidence building.

Among the Tamil civilian population the dominant feeling is one of fea with little cause
for hope. They, as the Government appeas eayer to do, may be handed over to fascist
rule. In Batticaloa, the people ae already having a dose of unbridled thuggery, where it is
dangerous to appeal. The other prospect is their lives being rudely disrupted once more
by awar of unprecalented severity, with their young as unwilling cannon fodder.



We take alook a developments in child conscription that become more sinister with
every passng week. The strength of the Norwegian role lies in arealisation by the LTTE
that it is in a hostile international climate with limited options (seeinterview with Vidar
Helgesen and Eric Solheim, Isand 1206.02). It depends crucially on prevailing upn
the LTTE to act rationally and be realistic about its expedations. However, the LTTE is
an organisation in unstable equilibrium constantly juggling with several acute aises. This
rendersit very volatile.

On the more hopeful side, there have in late June and ealy July been three initiatives to
addressthis impasse. One was Amnesty International’s visit, a high point of which was its
meeding with some senior LTTE leaders in the Vanni. The second is the report by
Human Rights Watch, titled 'Sri Lanka: Human Rights and the Peace Process. Both
these ae aresponse to the ncern voiced by several groups in this country of the lack of
a Human Rights perspedive in the ongoing peace process

Both these initiatives have highlighted the need to bring an end to child conscription and
to ensure the return of all minors to their homes. We all have atendency to become
absorbed by the pressing concerns of the moment. These initiatives however remind us
that the situation could change rapidly bringing other dangers to the limelight. The
following pertinent paragraphs are from the HRW report:

Also critically important is the need to eliminate or reform the Prevention d Terrorism
Act and to release the hundeds of detainees held withou trial under its draconian
provisions. Most of these detainees are Tamils arrested onsuspicion d linksto the LTTE
(now operating openly in a pditical capecity throughou the wurtry). Many were
arrested months or even years ago pending investigation, with no evidence to suppat
poli ce suspicions beyondtheir own confessons - often exracted uncer torture.

Accourtahility for abuses is a critical comporent of human rights protedion. The PTA
has contributed to a climate of impunty in Si Lanka where custodial abuse and
thousands of "disappearances’ have gore investigated and unpurshed. Si Lankan
human rights defenders expressed aarmin May at news that the government planned to
wind up the missng persons unit of the Attorney General's office and the
"disappearance’ investigation unt of the Criminal Investigation Department (CID).

Besides ensuring that all parties resporsible for abuses of human rights and
humanitarian law are held accourtable for their actions, the release of prisoners, and an
end to akuses such as child reauitment and extortion - which have placed an enormous
burden on families already ground down by years of war - effedive international
monitoring could aso help protect and rurture dfortsto rebuild civil society in the north
andeadt.

Indeed what we seetoday is a grim silence on the PTA detainees. The ones who are
totally innocent are the least likely to have anyone influential interested in them. Police
investigations into politicdly linked crimes are highly seledive and are seen to be no
more than manipulative in pupose. As HRW has pointed out, proceelings that would



have implicated important ministers in the present government in grave violations have
been quietly dropped. Public confidence in the rule of law is at alow ebb.

It was this outlook that guided the Government's idea of peace The former UNP
government's attempt to subdue 'a mere 12%' of the population in 1983with a show of
force and a sound dose of thuggery came unstuck. The next best to its legatees appeaed
to be to subcontract the North-East to another forcethat would try the same methods with
its own people and other inconvenient sedions like the Muslims. We seethe arangement
already unravelling. One annot be complacent about the dangers facing the country. In
this context the role of the International Community assumes a crucial importance in
taking timely corrective measures.

This brings usto the third initiative. Finally, it appeas, the Sri Lanka Monitoring Mission
did some hard talking with the LTTE leadership in Batticaloa during a meeting on 10"
July (seereport in Sedion 5). The topics, ac@rding to sources on the ground, included
child conscription, abduction, and extortion. This can only be abeginning. The LTTE had
already been moving towards circumventing these strictures.

We begin with developments that have assumed a high level of poignancy. Among these
are the puldic resentment the LTTE has provoked, particularly in Batticaoa, and of even
greder concern, the barbarous fate mnfronting Eastern conscripts who are deserting in
their hundreds.

2. Terror in Training Camps

In our recent Special Report No 13, we gave three different reports pertaining to
escgpees from training camps in the Mutur area Reference was made to the hazads of
crossing crocodile infested waterways. These receive poignant elucidation from the
testimony of a group of recent escgpees in the 16-17 age group. We give the main
highlights of their experience

These youths from Trincomalee District joined the LTTE largely in response to
propaganda aout April. When taken to the training camp, some of the seniors told them,
"Why on earth dd you come here? You dorit know the situation row. It is no longer a
" punthaiyakkam' (pure andvirtuous movement)".

There were also in the amp under training children in the aye group 1214 yeas. Those
who express feelings of missng home or wanting their mother are mercilesdy beaen.

Some seniors also said that a yeast-like powder is mixed with the food gven to new
requits. Its purpose is to transform them to an aggressive, fighting disposition and make
them lose interest in home.

Those under punishment for attempted escgpe (as one of the group was) are daily given a
tablet, shaped like a ©d-liver oil cgpsule, to swallow.



Some children had been killed duing live firing exercises and their bodies were
summearily buried. They are understood as having the status of ‘martyrs’!

The girl trainees are kept separated from the boys, but the boys and girls can talk acoss
to ead other. As regards escgpe, the girls are more helpless Many girls pleaded with
boys aaossthe divide to show them a means of escgpe.

Escape is difficult because there is awaterway to be aossed and it is common talk that a
number of escgpees have fallen into the jaws of crocodiles. The camp bosses had also
shown the trainees fleshy objeds, purportedly the remains of victims of crocodiles, and
warned them against attempting to escagpe. The bosses also said that landmines were
concealed in the peripheral zone.

These escapees also confirmed that the fears creaed by the deterrents against escgpe are
more effedive on the younger conscripts. This means that those 15 and under are more
likely to remain through fea of escgpe. One of the escgpees met a boy under 15 givenin
our lists in previous reports. This boy is now trained and carries a gun. When asked why
he did not escape, he cited the uncertainties confronting such an enterprise. For similar
reasons fewer girls escgpe.

Those who are caight esceping face the punishment of 6 months hard labour, in
extremely poor acommmodation, having to rise & 4.00 AM. The food given is also
inedible and full of stones.

The escapees who testified undertook the atempt in late May with the connivance of
sympathetic seniors. They were provided with a boat of sorts to crossthe waterway by
night. They had also been instructed by the seniors to find the cart track and keep
following it. This they did and came to a eemetery at dawn. Going further, they ran into
an army chedpoint. When they explained their plight, the soldiers let them in without
any fuss. They then went to a Muslim habitation (name suppressed) where the Moulavi
(Preader) helped them to read relative safety. Now that the LTTE is free to roam
everywhere, escgpees running into them are mercilessly thrashed.

The mounting problem of escaping conscripts makes cruel mockery of the LTTE's claim
to be apeople's movement or the people's le representatives. Meanwhile, as the two
cases below indicae, the LTTE's measures against escapees are becoming markedly more
harsh and cruel. While on the one hand the LTTE campaigns continuously against the
PTA, hostage arests and third degreetorture by government agencies, the resort to these
very same measures by the LTTE itself, and moreover against its own people, is now the
market talk in the East.

The first case is that of Miss. Sasikala Krishnapillai (19 years), Nea Hospital,
Eedhanthivu, Navatkadu. We give three @mplementary acounts, first, how it surfaced in
market talk in Batticaloa town. The young girl was conscripted by the LTTE some
months ago along with two of her bosom friends, while on holiday from schoaol. The



parents knew little thereafter, except that she was very unhappy. One day in late May or
ealy June, the LTTE summoned the parents to a amp in the interior, saying that their
daughter was ill. On going there LTTE women told them that the girl had died of illness
and tried to send them away.

The parents persisted in wanting to seethe body and they were allowed. They noticed a
red mark on their daughter's nedk and surmised that she had been shot. Subsequently,
they also leant that their daughter was not buried in the 'martyrs graveyard', but in a kuli
(shallow pit) in the jungle where it was bound to be dug up ly the wild beasts.

A directed inquiry yielded the following account. Sasikala had finished the training
programme, and being a misfit was ill-treaed by the amp bosses. One day she and her
two bosom friends attempted to escagpe. A female guard opened fire, killing Sasikala.
What became of her two friends remains unknown.

Yet another twist to Sasikala's tragedy came from a further witness According to this
source, Sasikala did not die immediately upon escgpe, but was chased and cornered at
Vannatthiaru. Her pursuersthen bea her to death. The body was first brought to Venthan
camp, where it was en by our witness. Only then was it taken to her own camp. Thus if
the gunshot injury suggested by the two ealier acountsis correct, we may surmise that it
was not fatal.

The semnd case pertains to the 14-yea-old boy Krishnakumar Chandrasekeran, of
Navatkadu and Grade 9 student at Nahammal Schoal in the same village. He lived with
his father Kunaratnam Chandrasekaran, a alltivator, mother Rajeswary nee
Krishnapillai (33) and two sisters Githa (12) and Banuja (7).

Krishnakumar was abducted on 19" October 2001 along with several other children. He
was dispatched to Periyavedduvan training camp in Veppavedduvan, where he was
attached to the Venthan Regiment among a group of 250 trainees. Most of them were
very young, many about 13 yeas old. There were also persons aged 18 and 20 The
trainees were commanded by Jeyam and his deputy was Kali. Kali was notoriously cruel
and used to bea the trainees severely. There were @out 35 on the staff. The training was
completed on 18" March 2002and this was the 51 to passott.

Krishnakumar escaped on the 18" of May and came home. Several LTTE men came in a
tractor looking for him two days later. Finding him at home, they belaboured him with
rods in the presence of his parents and took him badk to the same @amp. In camp, awhip
made of plaited wire was produced, and each one of a 100 trainees was asked to give
Krishnakumar, who was tied up, one lash. After about 50 lashes, Krishnakumar fainted,
and was caried away. As the result of the brutal treatment he received, Krishnakumar's
right shoulder had been injured and the hand gave the gpeaance of having come down.
He also had injuries on hands and legs.

He was nt to the hospital camp at Vannathi Aru where his leg was manacled to the bed.
A few days later he was freed to be ale to go to the lavatory on his own. He found that



he could walk better than had been anticipated. On 4™ June & 7.00 PM he left the camp
while the others were distraded watching television. He limped towards home,
intermittently hearing motor cycles of the search party, reaching home & 1 AM on 5"
Jure.

The parents quickly sent him to the mother's sister in Batticadoa town. The LTTE came
home and demanded the son from the parents. The father, Chandrasekaran, told the LTTE
that the son had not been home. The LTTE asked him to accompany them, which he
refused. They bea him up and took him away as a hostage in their vehicle.

The mother, Rajeswary, later met Visu, the Deputy Political Heal for Batticdoa and
Amparai, a his Kokkadichcholai office Visu sent her away saying that there is nothing
to discuss. Having tracal Rajeswary's younger sister (the boy's ssnnamma) in Batticaloa
town, the LTTE threatened her husband (the boy's sitthappa). He was told that they
should surrender the boy, for if they were forced to take the boy, they would kil | him, and
failing their getting the boy they would kill his father.

Rajeswary quickly obtained help and appealed to the Local Monitoring Committeeof the
SLMM. She gppeded for seaurity and urgent medical aid for her son, the release of her
husband and to ensure the non-confiscaion of their home and livelihood. Krishnakumar
was at the time of writing receiving medicd attention at Batticadoa Hospital under the
care of the SLMM.

Krishnakumar's escape from the camp is far from being an isolated event. Earlier in May
we heard from other sources, about 10 days before Krishnakumar's escgpe, that 15 boys
escgped from the same camp and tried to hide. They were caight at Kokkunchi, similarly
beaen and taken badk. The ase of Selvendran Thambirasa (16) who was tortured to
deah for escape is given in Section 6 (6™ July).

The new degreeof severity resorted to by the LTTE is an admisson of the discontent and
dissension resulting from an attempt to build upnumbers using children and conscripts. A
dozen years ago the LTTE was notorious for torturing politica dissdents. Torturing child
conscripts and their parents now is in the nature of a logical sequel. We noted that the
Monitoring Misson has since ealy May been reciving more complaints on child
conscription. However, the LTTE has gone badk on its pledges and yielded not an inch.

3. SLMM Taken for a Ride

In Special Report No.13 we referred to three @mplaints of conscription before the LMC
(Locd Monitoring Committeg of the SLMM in Batticaloa. One was a newly married gir|
of 18, another a 13-yea-old girl with a short leg and the other, a sickly boy of 15. During
May it was arranged that the LMC and the complainants would meet Karikalan at the
Kokkadichchoalai office, where the bride and the cildren would also be produced to
verify their dispositions.



The LMC was present at the time gpointed with the families. The father of the 13-yea-
old had come on a bicycle aossing the lagoon, bringing hs wife on the bar along with an
infant in the wife's arms. Neither Karikalan nor any one of the abductees was present.
Those who came were simply told that there had been a change of plan and that they
must go instead to Commander Karuna's office & Karadiyan Aru. Some of the LMC
members felt that it was too much for the families, especially the father, mother and
infant on their bicycle. They asked the families to remain at Kokkadichcholai and went to
Karadian Aru.

Having gone there to be disappointed again, they concluded that they had deliberately
been put on awild goose dhase. Badk in Kokkadichcholai they had to tell the families to
go badk empty handed. It was getting late axd they saw the father, mother and infant
starting bad, weary and overwhelmed by grief. They later found out that the three had
been detained by the LTTE for two or three days as punishment for complaining to the
SLMM.

The mother of the 15-yea-old went to new lengths of desperation to traceher son. Using
whatever information she had gathered she roamed the interior pretending to be apeasant
woman and succeeled in locaing her son. The sickly boy was looking thinner and worse
for the dhange. The boy pleaded to be taken home. On discovering the mother and her
purpose, the LTTE warned the mother and sent her away. She cmmunicaed her
adventure to the LMC, which in turn was helpless

Up to this time promises have been given, but there has been nro movement. The LTTE
has in the meantime been using its nomineeon the LMC to confuse the issue and detrad
from its urgency. This nomineelater one day told the LMC that the 15-yea-old with the
week chest now wished to remain in the LTTE and that the mother was visiting him
daily. The others knew, however, that this was untrue. The mother feaed that something
fatal may happen to him anytime and wanted him badk badly. It was moreover her right
to have him.

Fr. Harry Miller, however, was clea that getting children released should be a principal
obligation of the SLMM, since their plight was among the most poignant tragedies
confronting us. He refleded sadly, "People seem to think that there are more important
things to do than getting children released.” Although he pressed the issue regularly on
the LMC, he observed that the Government too is not keen to pursue it for the fea of
jeopardising the ceae-fire.

The caes presented here and in our previous reports are (e.g. see below) far from being
exceptions. Despite the mounting evidence marshalled by a number of organisations, the
LTTE has decided that it would not concede the slightest hint of wrongdoing. Its
spokesmen go on insisting that all those taken in are voluntees. It will not even admit to
the outside world that it has made it a rule for parents around Batticaoa to hand over a
child. The LTTE's foreign English media stop short of total denial by referring to
‘unsubstantiated allegations of child conscription’. Notable ae also growing attadks on
Amnesty International, a long-standing critic of human rights abuses by the governments



of Sri Lanka The LTTE's passng out parade in Palugamam on 10" June was a public
relations ad intended to place aveneer of legitimacy on child conscription.

4. 10" June: The Passing out Parade & Legitimisation

Letters went out to parents of selected trainees, inviting them to Palugamam on 10™ June
to view their children. It was a grand passing out parade atended by top brasswith titles
suggesting that their rank had been upgraded. Among them were:

Special Commander (Military) Batticaloa-Amparai Karuna,

Special Commander (Military) Ramesh,

Special Commander (Politica) Batticaloa-Amparai Karikalan,

Special Commander (Politicd ) Visu,

Commander (Political) Thurai,

Special Commander (Women's Wing) Nilanthini,

Commander (Military) Amparai Stalin,

Commander (Mathana Regiment) Savitiri,

Commander (Anbarasi Regiment) Rupika,

Commander (Visalan Regiment) Jeyam

Special Commander (Vinothan Regiment) Jm Kelly Thaththa,

Commander (Intelligence) Batticaloa-Amparai Ramanan,

Commander (Finance) Kausalyan

An important ador moving things from behind the scenes was missng - namely, the
LTTE intelligence chief Pottu Amman. The arival of Pottu Amman in Batticaloa District
on 24" April became something of an international incident involving Norway, India, the
Maldives and the Sri Lankan Navy (see Nirupama Subramanian, The Hindu 30.04.02 and
Igbal Athas, The Sunday Times 28.04.02 & 05.05.02). Other indicaions of his presence
will be given below. The event also put an end to speaulation about reasons for the
unprecadented conscription and alleged rifts between the different LTTE leaders. The
presence of Pottu Amman makes it abundantly clear that conscription is being
orchestrated from the top.

Tamilnet put a glosson passing out parade of about 450 members of the Spedal Forces
by highlighting it as a show of heroic nationalist defiance. Karuna's speech was portrayed
as throwing the gauntlet to the Sri Lankan Government - give us a just settlement or we
are ready and will not hesitate to fight.

However, an important asped of the procealings was related to child conscription and
had a clea propagandist purpose that was botched. Writing in the Sunday Virakesari
(16.06.02), G. Nadesan said: "The passing out parade of those recruited 6 months ago
[10 Dec 2001] has been held amidst concerted propaganda that the LTTE has been
forcing one member to join from each household". Nadesan then qudes a auder passage
from Karna's geeh, omitted from reports in English, that goes long way towards
admitting the dharge:



"In response to our request to gve us one soldier from each family, parents from
Padwankarai joined their children to us. The parents who refused have gone to the
enemy'sterritory, andwith the help of the enemy, havelaunched propaganda acusing us
of conscription. Were thisthe ase, we shoud have held the parade behind a babed wire

Nadesan added, "By haolding the passng ou parade in pulblic, the LTTE have given the
lie to the allegation d forcible conscription.” Nevertheless, the following day, the word
was about in Palugamam that up to ten of those who "passed out' had run away, in spite of
knowing the draconian punishment they would face if caught.

Special Commander Ramesh said in his speech (vide Tamilnet): "The training is very
rigorous and dsciplined, and that is why we don't allow parents to visit them during
training." It was an admisgon that the parents had been clamouring to seetheir children.

We have alrealy seen the LTTE's systematic evasion of the SLMM through a mixture of
deception, harassment and punishment of complainants. That parents cannot demand to
seetheir children who are under ‘rigorous and disciplined training' has become another
wegpon in the amoury of evasion.

We dso noted a sharp increase in conscription adivity after Pottu Amman's arrival
following a relative lull in mid-April. In the next two sections we will tracethe general
tenor of orders emanating form within the LTTE followed by adual events on the
ground. In the East, unlike in the North, the villagers are more avare of what is going on
within the organisation.

5. LTTE Leaders, Accelerated Conscription & Deployment

Early indications of the ativities of Pottu Amman who arrived in Batticaoa on 24™ April
started surfacing in the villages during the coming weeks.

Mid May: Summoning military leaders in the district for a meeting, Pottu Amman told
them that the peaceprocessmay soon break down. He instructed them to reauit as many
as possible quickly through the various arms of the organisation, including the
development societies.

Mid May: Addressing a meeing of leaders of the Intelligence Wing, Pottu Amman
called upon them to mobilise all NGOs and public organisations to pressfor the removal
of army and STF camps. They were also asked to compile lists of members and former
members of other groups.

Late May: Pottu Amman invited Intelligence Military, Finance and Political arealeaders
to a meding in Tharavai. Several promotions were announced. Among those promoted
were Robert to Intelligence Commander BatticdoaAmparai. Area leader one-eyed
Mohan noted for his ruthlessnessin conscripting children in the Navatkadu area and his
famous night raids on homes, was assigned a considerably larger area

1C



This was also an important period for the Intelligence Wing. From about 20" May the
LTTE was given unrestricted access to government controlled urban areas under the
MoU. Batticaloa is now the focus of heavy intelligence adivity. Public institutions like
the Hospital and Post Office ae kept under surveillance Members of the Intelligence
Wing are also said to be in public transport leaving and entering Batticaloa. In doing this
they also undertake regular stints in Colombo.

With the MoU giving free acessto the government controlled areg Political Leader
Karikalan had much work to do, carrying the message of peaceto these liberated people.

20" May: Addressing a pulic meeting at Hindu College, Batticaloa Town, Karikalan
called upon the people to give one son or daughter from each family for the 'struggle’. He
said that up to now it was the families in the LTTE-controlled areas that had been
‘voluntarily' sending their children to the ‘'movement’, and now it was time for the rest to
dothe same.

21% May: About 4.00 PM, Karikalan addressed a meding for students from the aea &
Valaichenai Hindu College. He said that all students irrespedive of age must join the
final stage of the strugde. He also inaugurated a Tamil Student's Wing with VHC
principal Thavarajah asleader, Vani Schoal principal C. Loges as deputy and 2 teaders
and 2 students on the cmmmittee Itsrole is to organise processions, distribute leaflets and
organise welcome ceemonies for leaders.

What follows are some activities pertaining to deployment, planning and ordnance in
keeping with the diredions given:

About 10" May: Several hundred girls were taken to Eelankulam and handed over to
Sivafor training.

30" May: Sarana, who heals the Mavdi Odai training camp brought in 4 carpenters to
start making coffins. There have been several such reports concerning orders to make a
large number of coffins. The circulation of such reports may be deliberate on the part of
the LTTE.

30" May: The LTTE went to the co-op outlets at the Aithyamalai, Unnichchai and
Navatkadu and commandeered the rations ent by the Government to the recipients of the
Samurdhi poverty alleviation scheme. The supplies were caried away in 3 lorries.

Late May: Pillayan, the Transport Head for Batticaloa-Amparai took by lorry 200
children trained at Panjimarathady, Tharavai, and assigned them to work at the dairy farm
camp at Kokkukunchimadu. The circumstances point to these cildren being part of the
same group from which Krishnakumar (see above) escaped on 18" May. This also
indicates those too young being assgned non-combat reserve duties for the time being.
Farmers living in the aeawere instructed to give 5 bottles of milk a day for the needs of
these children.
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5" June: LTTE's Gadaffi went to al co-ops in Kokkadichcholai and commandeeed the
rations meant for Samurdhi welfare recipients and transported them to the LTTE base in
Tharavai.

51 June: About 100 children forcibly conscripted around 6" March were sent to
Veppavedduvan for special training under Transport Head Pill ayan.

51 June: Jim K elly Thaththa who played a leading role in the atempt to take Jaffna in
May 2000 (see our Bulletin 24) invited area @mmanders for a meding in Tharavai. He
asked them to take those who have mmpleted training bad to their areabases and train
them in attadk and demolition of army and STF camps. He asked those in intelligence to
expedite the photographing and mapping of these camps.

After the passing out parade of 10" June, it was reported that the new fighters were sent
to commanders in Vellavelly, Porativu, Palugamam and Kokkadichcholai to build
bunkers and defences and to betrained in the use of heavy wegons.

20" June: On instructions from Karuna, supplies of heavy weagpons, small weapons, food
and medicines were sent to LTTE camps at Illupadichchenai, Tharavai, Veppavedduvan,
Karadiyanaru, Kitul, Vellikkakandy, Unnichchai, Pavatkodichenai, Kalapoddamadu, 10
1/2 Mile Pogt, Thupalancholai, Meelattuchenai, and Sill ikkudiaru. Bunkers are being cut
and defence perimeters st up several hundred yards from each camp. Trained conscripts
are also being posted to these camps.

We move on to a sample of corresponding events on the ground. Many of the incidents
below are now, in the guise of political work under the MoU, taking place blatantly in the
government controlled area

22" June : 150 newly trained persons were given arms and sent from Tharavai to
Ramanan, Heal of Military Intelligence, Batticdoa-Amparai for posting to different
camps.

26™ June: Commander Karuna aldressed a meeting of several Special Commanders,
including, Finance Head Kausalyan, at the a@mp of Vehicles Head Pillayan at
Veppavedduvan. Karuna stressed the need to make tax collection more effective and
wanted fixed taxes to be mlleded from persons in every profession, including farming

and toddy tapping.

28" June: Finance Head Kausalyan held a meeting in Rameshpuram for the RDSs (Rural
Development Societies) of that area ad Vantharumoolai. They were instructed on
colleaing taxes from people and a child from each family. Failure to comply, he alded,
would incur severe punishment.

30" June: Commander Karuna held, a meeting in Kokkadichcholai, Arasaditivu, to
which Ramanan had invited all special heals. Karuna told them that war may be
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imminent and called upon them to finish all special training and be prepared. The orders,
he said, will be issued shortly. The building of military defences and bunkers is
underway. Conscription of children and extortion have both been intensified in areas
from where smaller SL army detachments have been removed recently under the MoU
(e.g. Mandur).

10" July: The SLMM, led by Major-General Trond Furuhovde (Rtd.), with the heads
of LMCs of Batticaloa and Amparai, had discussions with senior LTTE leaders in Interior
Batticaloa. Among the latter were Special Commanders Karuna and Karikalan. Some of
the concerns raised by the SLMM, according to sources on the ground, were forced
conscription of children, abduction, extortion, forced taxation and vehicle theft. The
LTTE was told, these sources said, that violations in these categories were creating a
situation where they may be held responsible for a breakdown of the cease-fire, which
may in turn lead to their becoming subject to international law enforcement.

These sources also reported that following the meeting, Karuna issued orders to area
leaders that they should avoid becoming directly involved in forced conscription. He said
that they should get public organisations such as Rural Development Societies to do the
work of getting a child from each family. Such a move was already in prospect. He also
called upon those who had left the LTTE or are working with the Army to rejoin. The
latter were offered an amnesty with the pledge that bygones will be bygones. Area
leaders for about 22 areas in Batticaloa District were asked to compile lists and get about
it. Those so taken back are said to be receiving training at Sillikudiaru.

17" July: According to adult escapees who were receiving commando training, 450 of
them were being trained at Irumankulam, Thanthamalai. Those in charge were Sanjeeva
Master, Hamsa Master and Satchi Master, under the supervision of Captains Ramesh
and Nahes (Robert).

New security measuresin prospect:

There are indications that the LTTE will clamp down new and unprecedented security
measures whenever acrisis arises.

5" June: Jegan of LTTE intelligence and his men suddenly descended on the roadway
leading out of Kurunthiady and installed a checkpoint. They started checking the people,
the same way the Security Forces do, much to their annoyance. The people protested.
Jegan told them that they would do it again anytime and that they should not talk about it.

16™ June: Niroshan from LTTE intelligence went with Intelligence Siva and some
others from Keluththimadu camp, and began checking civilian passers-by near
Koduwamadu. Some queued up and were inconvenienced. Other civilians panicked and
scattered, several of them losing their belongings.

6. Conscription and Extortion
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11" May: LTTE's Jgan apprehended Vijayakumar and Jayaseelan from Chenkalady
who were swimming in Pasikudah, and demanded Rs. 2 lakhs from Vijayakumar. He
took Vijayakumar's motor cycle. Vijayakumar was asked to pay Rs 50,000 and released
on 15" May, but Jayaseelan who is from a poar family was not released.

12" May: Yogan of the Political Wing called parents for a meeting at \antharumoolai
Krishnan Kovil (Temple) and demanded a child from each family. Later 12 children were
forcibly removed.

12" May: Kalkudah arealeader Suman called a meeting and demanded children who
were 17 a older. It was subsequently learnt that parents were hurriedly getting their
children married while the LTTE was contesting these marriages.

15" May: Palamunai, Mandur: Y oharasa Satheeskumar (15 yeas) was forcibly taken
by the LTTE.

17" May: Kalkudah: The LTTE called a meding for parents a Vishnu Kovil that was
addreseed by Economic Development leader Nizam and Valaichenai and Vaharai
political leaders including Senathy. The parents were told that those who do not give a
child would lose their properties and vehicles.

17" May: LTTE's Kanga, a departmental head, held a meeting in the village of Mavady
Vembu. He demanded Rs 2 lakhs from each well-to-do family and one child from others.
This was a government-controll ed areawhere this was new and the people protested and
demanded why? Kanga replied, "No reason need be given to you. You must take orders
form us. You must know how we behave!" The people panicked and said that they will do
asthey are told.

17" May: The same day as the meding above, the LTTE went to the home of
Kanapathipillai in Mavady Vembu and demanded a son. Kanapathipillai refused. The
LTTE bea his ©n Chandran in his presence and took him away. Two days later
Chandran escgped and came home. Kanga caame home & 10 PM and demaded the boy.
When the father said that he did not know, Kanga asked where his next son was. Just then
the second son came to the entrance Kanga took the boy away while the boy was
screaming. The father was told that he should pay Rs. 2 lakhs if he wanted his on back.
Kanapathipillai sold histractor, paid the money and brought his ©n back.

17" May: Kausalyan, Velu and a few others from the LTTE went to the house of
Sellathamby of Vantharamoolai and demanded a son. When he refused they confiscaed
his 18 cows and two cartsin Vannathiaru.

18" May: Senathy, LTTE's Valaichenai political leader, told a meeting for the parents of
Pankudaveli and Punniaveli that those who do not give achild will have the children
removed by force Twelve families who became very frightened handed over in al 8
boys and 4 girls, all about 15 yeas, to Roshan of the LTTE a Karadianaru.
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21% May: The LTTE bea up Vellupillai Sellathamby of 1llupadichchenai for not paying
the money demanded and took 35 of his cows.

23" May: Area leader Reginald went to Thumpalancholai in Vavunativu and called a
meeing of parents. He demanded children from those who had hitherto not given. The
people refused. Reginald and his men forcibly, amidst much screaming, removed 7
children under 13 yeasand 5 under 15 yeas. They were reportedly taken to Pullumalai.

23" May: Local intelligence chief Nanthakumar went to the home of Sivagnanam in
Commathurai, father of a boy and two girls, and asked for his $n. Sivangnanam refused.
The LTTE confiscated his house, shop and property in Illupadichchenai.

28" May: Kalaivannan of LTTE Intelligence caled the parents of Kelutthimadu and
Pallachchenai and demanded children from those who had not given. The people refused.
LTTE men went house by house and abducted 13children, 8 of them 14 years old and 5
of them 15 yeasold. They were taken to Karadian Aru training camp and handed over to
Gadaffi.

Gadaffi is the same man against whom a mmplaint of indecent assault on a widow and
attempted rape was made to the SLMM in Batticaloa dter the LTTE politicd officetried
to intimidate the complainant. Gadaffi was reportedly confined by the LTTE for a few
days and then taken out supposedly because of a shortage of trainers.

30" May: Aandankulam politcal leader Senathiraja went to Aathikkuli and asked all
parents to come to the Nursery. He demanded chil dren from those who had not given and
read out alist of these households. The people refused and scolded the LTTE indignantly.
Senathiraja ordered his men to bea the people. They then went about in a trador and
abducted 7 children, who were taken to Tharavai and handed over to Jim Kelly Thaththa.

31% May: Rasiah and Sivarasa of the LTTE went to the baker who operates nea
Chenkalady market and demanded Rs. 2 lakhs. The baker refused. The same two went to
the baker's home & 10.45 PM that night with five more LTTE men. They knocked on his
door saying that they wished to talk to him. When he opened he was assaulted with poles
in the presence of hiswife and child. He was then detained at a canp in Illupadichchenai.

31% May: An LTTE party under Reginald and Elil of LTTE Intelli gence barged into the
schoal at Kitul and began forcibly removing children. The teaders protested. The LTTE
responded by asking the teaders to hand the children over to them ceremonially. The
teaders refused. The LTTE abused them verbally, and proceealed to load 15boys and 10
girls, about 14 yeas of age, into atractor. They were taken away and handed over to Jim
Kelly Thaththa. at Panjimaraththady camp.

31% May: A party led by Reginald of Intelligence went to the house of Vijayakumar at
9.45 PM and demanded Rs.1 lakh. Vijayakumar said that he did not have the money.
Reginald pushed him down, went into the bedroom, broke open his aimyrah, and went
away with Rs 50,000 cash. The party returned later that same night and demanded his



tractor. When he refused, they beat him up with poles. While going away with his tractor
he was told that as a punishment he must pay 3 lakhs more. He had been forced to pay
Rs.1 lakh some months earlier

Early June: A poor Methodist family from Kiran had fled to a Batticaloa suburb when
the LTTE came demanding a child. The eldest girl was deserted by her husband and
returned recently after a stint in Jordan to earn some money. The second, a girl, had
finished her O. Levels and the third, a boy, was doing his O. Levels. In early June, going
by the impression that LTTE pressure on the area had eased, the second girl took a busto
Kiran to spend the day in 'odiyam' (evangelistic work) with her church folk. An LTTE
spy on the bus spotted her and she was off-loaded and taken away.

4™ June: A party led by llango of the LTTE forced their way into the school at
Koppaveli (78" Mile Post, Badulla Road). They forcibly loaded 9 girls and 14 boys aged
about 15 into atractor. They were taken away screaming to Iralaikkulam in Tharavai and
handed over to the notorious Gadaffi.

57 June: Mudalikkulam, Cheddikulam (Vavuniya District): Miss. Piriyangini
Kunchina Prabha (15) wastaken by the LTTE.

10" June Illupadichchenai political leader Yogan summoned the parents of
Thampanaiveli and Koomachcholai for a meeting at the Koomachcholai School. He told
them that their deadline for handing over children is past and that they must do so now.
The parents refused. Y ogan told them, "If youwon't give, then we know how to takée'. He
and his men went around the two villages, caught 9 children, and took them away in a
tractor.

10" June: The LTTE summoned the people of Vaharai, Panichchenkerny and
Kathiraveli for a meeting on the Mydhan (Esplanade). The people were told that they
should give a child or pay Rs. 50,000. Subsequently, a number of children 10 and above
were rounded up and taken for training.

12" June: The LTTE did a night round up of villages of Peththalai, Pandimedu and
Vinayagapuram near Valaichenai and took away many children.

12" June: Kiran: Miss Jeevamalar Arulampalam (21) is the daughter of
Kulanthaivelu Arulampalam, and is a teacher at Vivekananda School, Kiran. On this
day the LTTE went into the school and tried to abduct her. With the help of others, she
evaded them and came home.

The LTTE went to her home the next day (13™) and asked the father where his daughter
was, and received the reply that she was in school. The LTTE told him that he was lying
because they had just been to the school. Arulampalam asked them bluntly, "Are you
looking for her to take her?" The LTTE men told her that they wanted her, as he had not
given them a child. Arulampalam protested that it is not right for them to remove a lady
teacher in this manner.
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The LTTE men then asked Arulampalam whether he had any male children around.
Arulampalam replied that there was only a boy of ten. The LTTEers rejoined that they
had many of that age and they would take the boy. The father told them that the boy was
not a home, whence the LTTEers proceaded to thrash him mercilesdy. Out of pain and
anguish he said that the boy had gone out to play and he would give him later. The
LTTEers went away after warning him that he should bring the boy to their Valaichenai
office (also in the government-controlled areaunder the noses of the Army and Police) by
10.00AM the next day at the latest. Failing which, they added, he would face severe
punishment. The same night Arulampalam took his family and left Kiran and is arefugee
in a Batticaoa suburb.

12" June: Illupadichenai: K ausalyan, Chief of Finance, Batticalo-Amparai, went to the
home of Sellathurai and demanded his daughter for the LTTE. When he refused,
Kausalyan's party bea him up with hands and poles. They then confiscated his 240
tractor and 175buffaloes.

15" June: Karadinayanaru: Kannan of the LTTE went to the homes of neighbours
M ahendran and Sundaram and demanded a child from each. They replied that they had
only girls. Kannan said it is girls that they want and ordered his men to grab a girl from
each home. When the parents firmly refused, the LTTE proceealed to bea the fathers,
until they collapsed. The LTTE left in a vehicle with Mahendran's daughter K ausalya
and Sundaram's daughter Revathy.

On their way to Veppavedduvan in Vannathiaru, Kannan and party stopped for a brek.
The two girls escaped into the jungle and went along two different tracks. Kausalya
subsequently found her way home. Revathy's fate came to be known later through the
grapevine straddling all sedions that inhabit Batticaoa's interior. Revathy lost her way in
the jungle. She observed a party of LTTE men, tried to hide and was gotted. The men
guestioned her and she revealed the drcumstances of her situation. The men raped her
and used her cruelly, leaving her lifeless.

18" June: The LTTE went to the home of K umaran and Seeha in Kokkadichcholai and
demanded a child. When the muple refused, they were beaen and detained.

19" June: Amnesty International met the LTTE's politica leader Thamil Chelvan in
the Vanni and in a wmprehensive discussion that lasted more than two hours, Mr.
Chelvan made oncrete ssaurances. He echoed the LTTE leader Prabhakaran's denial at
the 10" April press conference and averred that the LTTE does not reauit persons under
18. He repeded the claim added by Prabhakaran's translator and spokesman
Balasingam that those under age ae being returned to their parents for which receipts are
obtained. Mr. Chelvan revealed that these ae in keguing with a policy decision made by
the LTTE following UN strictures on reauitment adopted ealier this yea (vide Tamilnet,
24.6.02). Incidentally, Mr. Chelvan made similar assurances to UNICEF a few days
ealier (prior to that also in May 1998 and the UN body told the media that it had
seaured the release of about 60 children. Detail s about the latter have not been publicised.
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However the SLMM in Batticdoa that took up concrete cases of child conscription with
the LTTE has faced systematic evasion.

22" June: This was the season of temple festivals and the LTTE took advantage of the
‘peace process' to haunt the festivals in the government controlled areas of Batticaloa. It
installed its adion videos in the festival grounds and instructed the temple authorities that
there should be no cultural performances in the premises other than theirs. The people
generally avoided what the LTTE showed. The soft approach having failed, the LTTE
removed the velvet glove and moved on to the next step - conscription in saaed
premises. The people were angry and upset. Those @ducted below were taken to Kallady
camp (in the government-controlled areg the same night, and to Kokkadichcholai the
next day by Thurai, Political Leader, Batticaloa:

1. Mas. Parthipan Yoharasa (14 years), taken at Muthumariamman Temple
Mother: Mrs. Saraswathy Y oharasa (42), widow
37. Thomas Anthony Rd, Kallady

2. Mas. Jesuthasan Sebamalai (16), taken at Muthumariamman Temple,
Mother: Mrs. Pushpam Sebamalai (40), widow
16. Vettisingam Sastriar Rd, Dutch Bar, Kallady

3. Mas. Ragjani Ramanathan (14), taken at Mariamman Temple.
Mother : Mrs. Nirmala Ramanathan, widow
Velankanni Stred, Kallady

4. Mas. Jegan Theivendran (15), taken at Mariamman Temple
Mother: MrsYoheswary Theivendran, widow, employed in the Middle East
Beach Road, Kallady

5. Mas. Kisokanth Rasalingam (16), taken at Muthumariamman Temple
Mother: Trhavamany neePeriyakaruppan (46)
Father: Subramaniam Rasalingam, unemployed
3. Jeyanthipuram, Batticaloa

25" June: Unnichchai (Batticaloa District): The LTTE intelligence chief for
Navatkadu abducted 12 girls and 23 boys who were on their was to school. Most of
them were lessthan 15 yeas in age. They were handed over for training at Tharavai.

27" June: Batticalloa Mas. Prasanjan Nallathamby (15) was abducted by the
LTTE on the street at Vyravarkovilady, in front of the Railway Station. His mother
Mrs. Pakiam Ponniah (40), widow, lives down Amman Kovil Road, Sinna Urani,
Batticdoa.

27" June: Trincomalee Miss. Subashini Arumugam (15) is a daughter of the
Arumugams of Linganagar, Trincomalee She and her sister were students a
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Vivekananda College, Orr's Hill. On 26™ June while she was returning from school
with her elder brother, some LTTE men waylaid them and tried to abduct her. Her
elder brother resisted firmly and the LTTE left. The following day (27") Subhashini
was walking badk from schoal at 2.00 PM with her younger sister. At a place between
two police checkpoints on Orr's Hill, an LTTEer came on a bicycle and knocked
down Subhashini. A pickup van came immediately behind, forced Subhashini inside
and took off, witnessed by her younger sister. Her mother, Mrs. Arumugam, went to
the LTTE office in the Trincomalee suburb of Chelvanayakapuram and complained.
She wastold by the LTTE woman officer Kaveri that Subashini had come voluntarily
and was now out of town.

Mrs. Arumugam persisted and Officer Kaveri arranged for her to speak to Subashini
at the office by telephone. Subashini told her mother that she had joined voluntarily.
The mother then demanded that she should be given the opportunity to spe&k to her
daughter in person. This was refused on the grounds that Subashini had alrealy
spoken her mind.

The Arumugams have been warned that should they complain about this incident,
their remaining children too would be removed. This is the new line of the LTTE to
minimise information about child conscription le&king out. We learn that similar
abductions in Trincomalee have increased and the same threa has been made. The
parents, unlike before, are reluctant to complain for the fea of losing their remaining
children.

Some other recent cases from the environs of Trincomalee ae:

Mas. Sasikaran Paramsothy (15), Thirugnanasambandar Veehy, Trincomalee Was
taken after a propaganda sesson in Mid-June.

Mas Vasanthakumar Yoharasa (16), Kathiraveli, Vaharai. Was removed forcibly
last March.

Mr.Gunaseelan Somasundaram (23), Mavadichenai, Mutur. Was removed forcibly
during ealy June.

2" July: 26 children who were forcibly conscripted from Chenkalady DS Division
escgped from Tharavai at 10.00 AM. The LTTE gave achase and caught six. The other
20 however had not reatied home. Kausalyan, Head, Finance, went to the homes of those
who were not caught and demanded that the parents hand them over. The parents denied
that they had come home. Kausalyan forced the parents into a trador, and took them to
the a@amp of Pillayan, Head, Vehicles, at Kokkukunchimadu, where they were
imprisoned.

34 July: Miss. Sutharshini Kulanthaivel (14), an LTTE conscript, escaped to relative
safety. Sutharshini was a 7" yea student, at Kalaivani High School, staying with her
parents at Kothiyavalai, Kannankuda. On 16™ April, at 3 PM, K uyilan, Inpan and Seyon



of the LTTE came to her home and caught her to take her away. Her father demanded
what they were doing. Kuyilan replied that they want her for the LTTE and asked her
father to hand her over legitimately. The father refused and grabbed his daughter's hand.
Kuyilan aimed a blow at the father's hand with a stick and the stick broke. The father
fainted and fell down. Sutharshini's mother who saw it also fainted. The LTTE men tied
Sutharshini's hands and took her away in a trador to the girl's camp at Tharavai and
handed over to Theaenthamil who wasin charge.

Next to this camp is another for very young boys, about 200 of them. Some of them
were as young as 8 years in age. They received military training and at the same
time wer e also given schooling.

Sutharshini's training commenced in a group of just over 250 girls. The general talk
among the girls was that they would escape if given a chance On 7" May Sutharshini
along with some other girls was taken to Karadiyan Aru camp where there is a video
centre and handed over to Rajivan and M alarvili. After an interval there, at 9.00 AM on
29" May, the girls were taken to the LTTE office @ Kokkadichcholai and given to
Ramesh who was in charge. They were kept confined in a house. At 10.00 PM on the
same day, Sutharshini escaped with Kalaiaras and Vaanmathy who were young girls
like her and got to their homes. The LTTE went to their homes the following morning
and demanded that the parents $ould surrender the escapees. They warned the parents
that if they catch them on their own, they will shoot them. Sutharshini was hidden at the
home of a relative and smuggled out later on. She does not know the fate of Vaanmathi
and K alaiaras.

6" July: Karaveddy (Batticaloa District): The LTTE went to the vil lage on 28" June and
abducted 12 children, most of them less than 15 yeas in age. They were taken to
Tharavai from where they were sent to another camp. Six of them escaped and came
home

Roshan of the LTTE went to Tharavai and got detail s of those who escgped from the 6
remaining. He sent word to the parents of those who escgped to come to Tharavai. When
they came, Roshan locked them in a room and thredened them, placing them under
duressto hand in their children the following day. Thiswas done.

Roshan took the six children to Vepavedduwan training camp, where they were handed
over to Brindha Master. All six were tortured, and one of them died. The deceased is
Mas. Selvendran Thambirasa (16), of Karaveddy, Mahilavedduvan, Vavunativu. The
parents colleaed the body after they were subsequently informed.

17" July: Anparasan, the politicd leader for Navatkadu, commandeered a large number
of tradors from Navatkadu, Eedhanthivu, Vilavedduvan, Karaveddi, Kannanguda,
Mandapaththady, Thandiyady and Mahilavedduvan. These were taken to the LTTE camp
at Illupaddichchenai. The same vehicles were used to transport a number of boys and
girls who had finished training at Tharavai to the Karadiyanaru LTTE camp. The same
night several of them escgped and went home.
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On the morning of 18" July, the LTTE on discovering the escape went to the homes of
the escgpees and bea up the parents and threaened them demanding their children. The
parents said, "You took them. Why do you ask us'. The LTTEers replied that they have
escgped, and should be surrendered to them. The LTTE left after warning the parents that
if they do not surrender the children, they must leave the village and assaulting them
further. One or two of the escgpees were caight.

What we see here is lethal child slavery, terror and cepricious brutality inflicted by the
LTTE on its own people. In the next two sedions we will examine the considerations that
led it to inflict this astounding treament on the people of Batticaloa.

7. Background to the ongoing child conscription and its effects on
Batticaloa District

We shall tracein the subsections that follow the events and causes lealing to forced child
conscription in the Batticaloa Digtrict, the reasons for the dhoice and its fateful
consequences on society and social relations. How these developments led to a further
debilitating conflict with their Muslim neighbours will follow in a later sedion.

7.1 The Military Crisis, Internal Security and the Peace Process

In the badkdrop to the peaceprocessare threesignificant military events whose
implications were far better understood by the LTTE. Thefirst wasthe LTTE'sthrust in
May 2000to retake Jaffna. After itsinitial successat Elephant Passwhich demoralised
the Sri Lankan Army, the LTTE's momentum petered out in the cming weeks. With
material and moral support from abroad, the Sri Lankan Army was able to recoup much
lost ground and stablise its positions.

The LTTE's hope that people in parts of the Jaff na peninsula it recaptured would flock to
its banner were bitterly disappointed. The overwhelming bulk of the refugees fled behind
Sri Lankan Army lines. With its failure to retake Jaff na, the LTTE became very
conscious of an aaute manpower problem. The people, in particular those better off, were
constantly fleeing the North-East. The possibilities for reauitment inthe LTTE-
controlled Vanni were close to exhaustion and resistance was building up

It was in the wake of this crisis that Commander Karuna was $nt badk to his home base
in Batticaloa in the East to undertake areauitment drive. This was in December 2000
The results were so disappointing that in August 2001the LTTE went for a deliberate
policy of abduction and conscription in the Batticaloa District.

Available figures indicae that the LTTE needed at least 3000recuits annually to keep up
its numbers against an annual average deah rate of 1800in recent yeas. Owingto an
accelerating shortfall, its fighting strength, which was estimated at about 8000in 1997,
had fallen significantly.
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The second major military event was the failure with considerable losses of the
Government's thrust to regain Elephant Passin February 2001 It wasthe final onein a
series of lesonsthat conventional advances depending on brute inertia, moving columns
of heavy armour and infantry along well-defined trunk roads, wastoo costly. Thiswas
especially so because the LTTE had complete freedom of organisation and rapid
deployment, especiall y of heavy guns, in the aeaunder its control, and further, the Navy
had been unsuccessful in interdicting re-supply by sea

The third event is perhaps the most significant. From the spring of 2001the Army for the
first time used an unconventional strategy - L ong Range Reconnaissance Patrols
(LRRPs) to target key leaders degp inside LTTE controlled territory. The LTTE's
confidencein havingtotal control and untrammell ed manoeuvrability in its areaof
control was shattered. So successful were LRRPs that in spite of continuous deployment
for many months they evaded LTTE interception with almost total success It again
underscored the LTTE's manpower constraints.

The effea of the LRRPs on the LTTE lealership and their thinking was devastating as
became clear in recant months, following the ceae-fire. The dominant impression made
on journalistswho in April attended the LTTE leader's Killinochchi press conference was
the extreme paranoia of the group's leadership. There is at present a high level of

surveil lance inside the Vanni. We have given above some instances of the LTTE
experimenting with surveillance strategies in the East. Upgrading surveillancein atime
of crisiswould call for a huge induction of manpower.

It was also at the height of the success of LRRPs that the LTTE began conscription in
Batticdoa. There was also then political instability in the South with a change of
government in prosped. The main parties, the UNP and PA, and not least the LTTE
wanted a ceae-fire. The LTTE shopped for the most advantageous terms and worked for
the UNP at the dections. This was the badkground to the peaceprocess

Another asped of the LTTE's drategy may be mentioned here. Whenever they were
driven out of population centres, they always attempted to get badk one way or the other.
When the I|PKF confined them to the jungles, they came to an understanding with the
UNP government of Premadasa in 1989and gained control of the entire North-East
without firing a shot. They were then freeto go on with their singular form of state
building by constructing prison complexes and torture chambers.

From 1996they were confined to the Vanni region and the peripheries in the East. They
forcibly took people with them to the Vanni, but could not kegp them there and many
returned to Jaffna or fled elsewhere. They tried to recgture Jaff na militarily in 2000
When they failed, they devoted all their energy to a subterfuge that would again give
them direa power over the people. Once more the UNP clealy had no qualms about
coming to such an arrangement.

Having experienced aaute manpower constraints in recet yeas, the LTTE's rational
course would be to avoid areturn to war now and to establish itself in the envisaged
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Interim Administration for the North-East. It would use its numbers swollen by
conscription and its current high profile militarisation to intimidate the Government to
withdraw its increasingly angry and anxious armed forces from the North-East. In an
interim administration, it would require these swollen numbers for chedkpoints and an
elaborate system of internal seaurity.

However, rational choices ldom work for the LTTE. Its bloodstained history has piled
crisisupon crisis. Intrying to addressone it invariably triggers off aworse aisis. This
was the cae with the recent troubles in the East involving the Muslims as we shall see In
addressing its manpower problem through huge child conscription and massve extortion,
it has provoked deep resentment in the populace This has not helped to mitigate the high
degreeof paranoia harboured by the LTTE leadership about their real position among the
people whom they had silenced.

Thus at the badk of the dracnian methods being used by the LTTE for child conscription
and retention lies the stark fad that the people have had more than enough and distanced
themselves from the LTTE's cause. The question raturally arises, granted the LTTE's
aaute manpower crisis, why choose Batticaloa for such nasty treatment?

7.2 Response in the North to Appeals by the LTTE

Our ealier bulletins (e.g. Nos. 18-25) give some ideaof the difficulties the LTTE was
facing with regard to reauitment in the North amidst rising resentment. It was generally a
matter of identifying susceptible individuals, cornering them alone, applying intense
psychological presaure and abducting them as the last resort. Escgping and being caught
and punished was normal routine. This is evident in the @ases given in Bulletin No.25.
The 14-year-old boy Nimal was displaced to the Vanni from Thenmaratchy, Jaffna,
during June 200Q In coaxing hm to join he was assured that there was no physical
danger. They would shell the Army from a safe distance, chase the Army, simply walk
over and occupy their position and go on repeding this. He had deserted 12 times and
been fetched back.

Thiswas a rather irksome way of maintaining a fighting force. Massabductions of dozen
or so children at a time, as is presently happening in Batticaloa, would have been
extremely difficult in the North. We may also note the significance of what LTTE
reauiters told Nimal, "Persons from Batticaloa, Amparai and other places are fighting
to conquer Jaffna from the Army, and you are loitering”.

7.3 Batticaloa: A people cowed down

The community is one that has suffered masdve social dislocaion as the result of
violence During the ealy 1990s, Batticdoa suffered most from atrocities and
disappeaances caused by the amed forces. Throughout this period their sufferings have
been compounded by the LTTE strategy of contriving reprisals for political gain and
reauitment. Although the eff ectiveness of its drategy declined, its successin eliminating
all opposition gave by default a certain acceptance to the proposition that if the LTTE is



finished, the Government would chea the Tamils. This provided the LTTE an opening to
impose its dracmnian will. In this processthe people lost all rights.

Some reveding events in Palugamam say much about the extent to which the people have
been cowed down. The Kernipillayar Temple was levelled down by the LTTE during
May and, in religious terms, this Hindu site was deseaated by building a fish market in
the same location. Traditionally whenever there is a temple festival, no fish is brought
into the village or sold. At the Vellimalai Pillayar Temple in the same village, the fence
posts were removed by the LTTE. The Savatkalai Pillayar Temple was broken. The
LTTE also began removing the tiles from Nagathambiran Temple. It is said that the
Temple's guardian cobra hissed and the job was left half done. In the case of another
temple, its facade was pulled down.

Such an attadk on religious symbols that have seldom been witnessed in this country
during the last 350 yeas would have resulted in vehement puldic protest. But in
Palugamam, there was hardly a whimper. It bore eloquent testimony to the degree to
which the people had been cowed.

The man immediately responsible for the temple destruction is the arealeader Ramanan.
Some weeks later Ramanan was taken il | and admitted to GV Hospital in Batticaloa with
typhoid and malaria. The devotees derived comfort from what they regarded as divine
vengeance on Ramanan. Subsequently there was a temple festival at Kali Temple,
Punnachcholai, Amirthakali. The LTTE demanded from the temple authorities the rent
colleaded from dallholders <lling sundry goods to devotees. This time the temple
authorities were mnfident that divine succour would come to their rescue.

As for the deseaation in Palugamam, some pointed out that the destroyed temple was
asociated with families belonging to the Vellalar caste while Ramanan belonged to the
Mukkuvar caste. Others were quick to point out that caste aociations were not at the
root of the incident.

Other fadors point to peauliar nuances in this drama. Ramanan was careful not to harm
the two Christian church premises in Palugamam (i.e. Roman Catholic and Methodist).
On the other hand duing May-June 2001 the LTTE had used two Hindu extremist
groups (one from Batticaloa and the other from Trincomalee) to sir up resentment
againgt families around Vaharai who had recently become members of evangelical
churches (i.e. AoG and Four Square Gospel). This led to LTTE orchestrated attacks on
these families. How does one explain the gparent inconsistency in these developments?

7.4 Recruitment Compulsions & Populism

Some apeds are more eaily disposed of. By 1996 it was clear to the LTTE that the
Hindu Vellalas in Jaffna had distanced themselves from it. Although sedions of the
mainline Christian churches provided strong propaganda support for the LTTE, the
Protestant churches provided next to no reauits. The propaganda support too had its uses
for sections in the churches in the arena of global NGO politics and funding. The LTTE
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for its part valued these sedions of the churches as a very useful bridge to Western
opinion in particular. In recet years the Roman Catholic populace too has been
distancing itself fromthe LTTE.

What the mainline Christian churches have solicited from the LTTE has many similarities
to what has been sought by the Muslim leadership in the North-East. What they both have
sought isamodus operand to 'liveandlet live. The LTTE has thus been fairly careful so
far to alow the mainline churches certain autonomy in their internal matters.

In view of these constraintsthe LTTE was left with having to find the bulk of its reaquits
from the Hindu underclass In this regard the LTTE finds Christian evangelistic adivity,
which too finds most converts in the same dass a nuisance. The LTTE has been more
circumspect in dealing with this conflict of interest in the North. The dtadk on
evangelicd convertsin Vaharai (and ealier in Kiruvalkuli) shows a readiness to resort to
more extreme measures in the East. It is mainly about reauitment and not religion.

We have pointed out that the LTTE could afford to enforce harsher methods of
conscription in Batticaoa because the society has been cowed down. An outcome of this
process has been a populist thrust aimed at the Hindu underclass. In the East the
association between caste and economic prosperity is significantly more blurred than in
the North - this is why we were warned against jumping to conclusions about the
Palugamam incidents.

In the curse of conscription that was unloosed in August 2001, the expropriation of
those better off, their humiliation and abuse has become part of the process With each
family required to part with a child, or hand over their property and leave, it is those
better off, having the ability to make dternative arangements in Batticaloa town or
elsewhere, that have more realily taken the second option. This further reinforced the
anti-elite feeling among middle level leaders in the LTTE, who themselves came often
from the underclass

Prominent temples are frequently associated with leading families, who in addition to
their own paddy fields, have in trust lands, the income from which is used to defray the
expenses of temple festivals. What happened in Palugamam is, in part, playing to the
gallery by humiliating such leading families. Another side of these developmentsisthat a
relatively stable social order is being overthrown, not with a view to replacing it with one
more just. It is rather a cheap attempt to compensate the Hindu poor for the aiminal
abduction of their children. Its effeds on society as a whole, and the LTTE itself, have
been absolutely disastrous. The LTTE's violent posturing against the Muslimsisin part a
populist gimmick to distract the Tamils from the ills imposed on them.

7.5 Effects on the LTTE

The manner in which these developments are fraduring society is indicated very strongly
in Karuna's geech at the passng out parade. He has branded those who went to the
government held areain order to evade giving them a cild, agents of the enemy. These



leaders have aut themselves off to an extent where they are unable to understand ordinary
human feelings and aspirations. Karuna and K arikalan should after all know better than
others how zealous the LTTE's top lealers are, as parents, in ensuring the security and
welfare of their own children.

Now that the LTTE is allowed free acess to the government controlled areas under the
MoU, families who lived there in relative peaceearlier are now facing a choice between
giving a child or money, or being branded traitors who have no right to live there. The
incidents presented show the LTTE bewmming unrestrainedly harsh in satisfying its
demands for children and cash. For the LTTE, the effed of this cruelty towards mothers,
and to the children in its cadre, has meant the lossof any vestige of being a liberation

group.

For many years, the word frequently used to describe the LTTE functionaries in the
North was 'cunning’. Their speech and public conduct seldom revealed their true
intentions. The @rresponding description frequently used in the East has been ‘unruly'.
This is a refledion of the fad that the LTTE has used the real inseaurity felt by the
Tamils in the East over the agenda and conduct of the State, merely to replenish its
numbers, without being in any sense aliberating influence

Consequently, there have deliberately been fewer checks on the conduct of individual
area leaders. Someone going higher up to complain about one of them may find
themselves being punished brutally by the same person. In Special Report No.13 we
found Thurai (now heading the Batticaloa political office) bringing a group of young
boys to thrash up a man who had lodged a complaint about him with his superiors. About
July last yea, Kurukulasingam of Koththiawalai who acaised an area leader of having
an illicit affair with a woman was beaen to deah. Six relatives of the deceased who
protested were detained for a month.

Since forced conscription and urcontrolled extortion began, the incidents reported point
to standards having plummeted to a degoer abyss The shortage of trainers has apparently
been given as the excuse for placing Gadaffi, a man widely known for sexual assault on
a widow and attempted rape (Special Report No.13), in charge of new conscripts,
including young girls. Correspondingly, the level of public dissension against the LTTE
has also readed an all-time high. The differences in the organisation between the North
and East have also beame notable.

7.6 The Warlords of the East

We have described above the effeds of the LTTE attempting to boat its numerical
strength without any concern for the highly deleterious political, social and ecnomic
consequences. This is not to compare qualitatively the differences between its Northern
and Eastern cadre. All those who had a vision for the East and were @mncerned for the
people had left the LTTE along time ago. Prabhakaran is guck with those who had no
quaims about doing his bidding. For the sake of multiplying cahnon fodder, the
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leadership has been willing to put up with greaer levels of indiscipline and looseness in
the East.

Of coursethe LTTE can be openly callous in the North, as for example during the Jaff na
Exodus of 1995 but its fascist structures and lines of control have been maintained. This
would be necessary at least to ensure the seaurity of the top leadership and crucial
establishments in the Vanni. As in a fascist polity, the forms of legality and showpiece
civil structures are maintained. There ae many 12 and 13-yea-old LTTE membersto be
seen in the Vanni, mainly girls, but they were largely coaxed into the organisation and
not taken by overt force

Comparatively, the LTTE in the East would be easier to penetrate and there ae no highly
sensitive establishments. The leaders more or less function as warlords whose dealings
with the people have no semblance of legality. However, no leader in the East can assert
his independence of the North. The @ntrol over ordnance, logistics and external contads
remains firmly in the Vanni. The visit of Pottu Amman to the East may also be seen asa
move by the leadership in the Vanni to strengthen its control over the aucial area of
intelligence

7.7 Socio-Economic Consequences

The rice growing economy that affeds the livelihood of most Tamils in Batticaloa and
Amparai is tenuous and has been rendered more fragile by the war. The best lands are the
irrigated lands under the Gal Oya Scheme, west of Sammanthurai and Kalmunai. Many
Tamils in this areawere killed in reprisals orchestrated by the seaurity forces following
LTTE attadks on Muslims and Sinhalese in mid-199Q Although reliable figures are not
available, it is the general talk that many Tamils have sold and moved out. The bulk of
Tamils now cultivate on rain-fed lands for only one season ayea. The yield here is about
6510 90 bushels an aae & opposed to 150 bushels per aae per season on Gal Oya lands.
With inputs costing more, the emnomy of rain fed lands has been becme increasingly
delicate.

Traditional cultivation in Batticaloa was based on the podiyar system. A group of
families involved in cultivation are dtadhed to a podiar (who owns a large extent of
land). The podiar isin turn obliged to look after the needs of the families under him. This
gave them seaurity in bad times as well. There are no caste or religious affiliations
involved. Both podiars and labourers include Muslims as well as Tamils.

The LTTE's conscription and extortion drives have resulted in many Tamil podiars being
expropriated. (Muslim podiars in Batticaloa had since 1990 been denied acessto much
of their lands and have only recently made moves to use them.) As part of its populist
thrust, the LTTE has divided up these expropriated lands into small plots and assgned
them to poor families from whom they have taken a child. Unlike the podiars who cut
down codgts by cultivating a large extent (e.g. someone alltivating 10 aaes would have
his own tractor) that is combined with milk and curd production, those receaitly given
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small pieces of rain-fed land have found cultivation unviable. The local ecmnomy in
Batticdoa has suffered badly by a huge slump in rice production.

Rising impoverishment over the yeas has driven many women, both Muslim and Tamil,
to seek employment as domestic helps in the Middle East in order to sustain their
families. Conscription (mainly abduction) by the LTTE has resulted in a sharp increase in
the number of young Tamil women going to agents for employment in the Middle-East.
For these young women trying to escape poverty, conscription or both, it means first
being taken to Colombo and housed in a lodge. The hazads are many.

In extorting huge sums of money from this community, both diredly and indirealy, the
LTTE is further torturing a people it helped to impoverish. To many who believed in the
liberation struggle and contributed towards it in ealier yeas, the total ruin of their
community has been heat bresing. There is atear in every syllable when they spek of
the ruin of a ailture, its domestic felicities, its festivals and the give-and-take between
communities. Against this badkdrop the LTTE's political outread conveys a depressing
aridity.

8. 'Political Work' in the North-East

The Tamils have a background of more than 70 yeas of mass politics and a variety of
political movements. Many of those who contributed to this politicd life were giants in
their time. Some of these movements had a broad worldview and imbued generations
with high ideds of justice and social service. The m-operative movement was brought to
this country by activists from Jaff na. Having this proud heritage behind ws, where ae we
now?

By the standards of any liberation strugde, the LTTE is at the height of success The
Government is realy to concede agreat deal for the mere aking. The International
Community will penalise the Government if it hedges on considerable devolution. In
short, the LTTE has a tremendous opportunity to win the long cherished demands of the
Tamil people. Normally, at such a moment, there would be joy and an outpouring of a
sense of freedom. It is atime for visions, ideas and ideals, a flowering of democracy, and
atime of hope and generosity.

But what we witness in the North-East is a mournful silence. Whenever the LTTE prods
people to put on an artificial show of enthusiasm, it only makes them shrink in terror. The
trouble is that we have been hopefully here thrice before, only to find each time that it
was a prelude to disaster. The LTTE has now gained access everywhere to do 'political
work'. Given the resources and past achievements of the cmmunity, one might expea
many to come forward and make a ontribution to the quality of such work. But in place
of hope, visions or ideals the political message in its clumsy vulgarity brings teas to
One's eyes.
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Girls from the LTTE's politicd wing can be found canvassing outside girls schools in
Jaffna. Their message is, "When the war starts the Army will come andrape you. Sowhat
are you gangto da?"

On 1% June the LTTE called a meding of NGOs in Kalmunai. Only Tamils were invited.
A one-armed LTTE political spokesman told those gathered: "It is time there was a
people's movement. You must think abou the \volent events of 199Q There is no
guarantee that they will not be repeated. The Tamils must unite to fight aganst the
Musdlims!”

Two members of the LTTE's political wing addressed the girls at St. Cecilia's Schoal,
Batticdoa. After they finished one girl requested permission to pose aquestion. When
this was granted, the girl said, "We are all happy that peaceis coming and & are for it.
Why in the midde of peace are you till catching children?" The two political wing
members looked at ead other. After an awkward silence, they promised to come another
time and answer that question and went away.

A trade unionist in Jaffna, whose estwhile leader Vijayanathan of the Communist Party
had been murdered by the LTTE in 1988 thought the MoU allowed them to have their
own May Day rally. He then heard that Aanjaneyar who headed the new LTTE officein
Jaffna wished to talk to him. Feaing that Aanjaneyar may come home and alarm his
family, he went to Aanjaneyar's office in the morning. Aanjaneyar got the trade unionist
to sit by his sde in the office, where two daunting figures food at the door, to bar, as it
were, his exit. Aanjaneyar repededly plied him with a request’ to join the LTTE's May
Day rally, claiming that it is not exclusive but common to all. By afternoon the man who
was afraid and tired agreed, and reached home to the relief of his family. Having roped in
25to 30 trade unions, the LTTE celebrated May Day at Ramanathan College. For all its
pains only about 1200 persons attended.

The Pressin Jaff nathat had surrendered some time ago is now finding the last vestiges of
independence snatched away even before the LTTE has adually taken over. The
journalists are regularly summoned for medings by the LTTE political office and the
proceealings are taped S0 that people cannot go badk on what they said. The Uthayan was
pulled up for covering rowdy clashes among students at the University of Jaffnain which
much property was damaged. (By contrast the LTTE in the late 198G, when the
university students aded independently, encouraged the press to discredit the students,
even attacking student leaders for trying to stop ragging!) Journalists receive telephone
calls when something written is not to their liking. When the Pressis beaming free in
Sri Lanka, the Tamil Pressis siccumbing to censorship without even a fight. Even the
well-known fad of the LTTE's murder of some public figure cannot be mentioned.

The LTTE's attempt to appropriate Sivakuamran, whose politics was far from
totalitarian, acually dishonoured and trivialised his memory. On 6" June the LTTE
ordered commemoration meeings for Sivakumaran who committed suicide on 5" June
1974to evade cagture by the Police a pradice later adopted by the LTTE. A venue was
arranged in a leading school in a provincial town in the East. All principals were ordered



to bring children and come there. The principals played safe and went with the minimum
number of students, leaving out the ones who are young and susceptible. It was thought
that the LTTE would bring the spe&kers. There was a pandemonium at the last minute
when the principals were told that it is they themselves must spee. This was in a
depoliticised society where no real history was ever discussed. To the relief of the
principals, someone produced a newspaper cutting about Sivakumaran to 'pick up some
points. The meding began with two LTTE dignitaries lighting the lamp. Then the
educationists goke, touching on Sivakumaran and digressng very generally, finally
reminding the students of the dhanged time of the district sporting event that had to be
cancelled that day to accommodate the meeting.

On 8" June several dozen school principals were alled for a meeting with LTTE leaders
at the Teachers Training College, Batticdoa. The meeting was presided over by Thurai
and among others present were Ravi, Kausalyan, Aathi and Banutha. A leading topic
was conformity with Tamil culture’ and curtailing opportunities for the two sexes getting
together. There ae to be regular follow up medings. There have been other instances
where, when grown up men and women attended a seminar, the LTTE has questioned
some of the delegates.

The residents of Vidalththalthivu who gathered at two churches for temporary refuge
during an army advance on 29" June 199 had been ordered by the LTTE to move
northwards into its area (our Bulletin No.21). When the people refused, the LTTE fired a
shell into the church compound Killing 4 civilians. But some civilians had accidentally
overhead the order to shell being communicated by radio and everyone knew that it was
an LTTE shell and not the Army's. Finally most of the people reached Mannar Island by
boat. They were housed in temporary shelter by the Church in its land at Thottaveli. Early
last May, the LTTE went there and asked the people to return to Vidalththathivu. The
people refused to go badk and live under them and there was an altercaion where the
LTTE shelling them was also brought up. The meeting ended with one or more members
of the LTTE being manhandled by fisherfolk.

About 18" June & Illuppaikulam under the Diocese of Mannar, the parish priest Fr.
Croos was having a treein the church premises cut down for church use. Suddenly, the
LTTE drove into the premises in a tractor and demanded from Fr. Croos with whose
permisson he was cutting the tree? What they meant was that he should have paid them
the tax that comes with the formal approval he should have obtained. "With whose
permission did you come into the church premises?”, retorted Fr. Croos. The priest was
quickly joined and supported by the parishioners of the largely Christian village and the
LTTE withdrew.

The picture that emerges is one where the people had high expedations from the peace
process and are disappointed that the LTTE in particular has not allowed them the full
benefits of the process This is most visibly so in the aippling and irritating tax regime
imposed by the LTTE.
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Apart from money to upgrade its security regime, the LTTE has always found it
politically necessary to maintain the people in a state of uncertainty and to regularly push
them into a posture of confrontation with the Government, even where the latter appears
more than amenable. The most expeditious means of achieving thisis'hartal pdlitics - an
old TULF gimmick. Nothing more is expected from people than to take a day off and
stay at home. Those needing public transport for medical care are greatly inconvenienced.

The impact of the MoU in allowing the LTTE free access to government-controlled areas
has been notably different in the North in relation to the East. In the East the effect on the
people has been very adverse. In the North the business community has been affected
badly, but most people maintain a certain reserve and the LTTE is careful about prodding
them too much. There have been no recent reports of conscription in the North. In Jaffna
the chief means of people becoming aware of recruitment is seeing anxious mothers at
LTTE offices.

We will now take a look at violations by the Armed Forces. Since these have received
enormous publicity such as to skew the total picture, we will place the context and
comment on their significance before moving on to the recent disturbances in the East
highlighting the plight of the Muslims.

9. Violations by Armed Forces

The very real danger with the Armed Forces is that if they are again sent into action after
amajor provocation by the LTTE, where in addition they feel badly let down and gravely
compromised by the government in power, there may be severe reprisals against Tamil
civilians. The Government too may deliberately encourage it to allow the Armed Forces
to quench their anger, which may otherwise turn againgt itself. This happened under the
UNP government in 1990. When the PA government was pushed into war in April 1995,
it was at the beginning quite successful in controlling violations. But standards fell
subsequently. The present peace process involves real danger of repetition and vigilance
isrequired to avert it.

That said, in the past, in 1990 and 1995, the Armed Forces generally followed orders
given by the Government. Apart from wishful speculation, there is no evidence that they
conspired or did anything to jeopardise the prevailing truce. Nor did the ordinary soldier
have any wish to return to war. The same holds during the present truce for the most part.
The problem areas have been the STF-controlled Amparai District and the Islands off
Jaffna controlled by the Army and Navy.

One big difference thistime is that there is much cynicism among the Armed Forces right
from the start. The LTTE moves about freely, and a common soldier told a visitor, "Our
hands are tied, but we @an seewith ou eyes'. With a few oblique questions, one could
easily elicit their deep reservations about what the Government is doing and their own
perception of vulnerability.
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Another difference is the free acess allowed to the LTTE and its blatantly lawless
adivities under the very noses of the Armed Forces. Irritated by this and unable to do
much about it, the STF have confronted the LTTE in instances that were either in a grey
areaor where they (the STF) were clealy in the wrong. The STF now does not, under the
MoU, have powers it previously had under Emergency Regulations and the PTA. The
LTTE's uniform response to any assertiveness by the STF has been to force members of
the pubic on to the streds and behave provocatively.

An early instance about March was the arest of an LTTE man named Jude who passed
the Thirukkovil STF camp. Locally, Jude has a reputation for being a vehicle thief who
has added to the LTTE's fled of stolen vehicles it is suspeded of maintaining in the
jungles off Thirukovil and Kanjirankudah. The LTTE brought a crowd to the STF camp
in the night and shouted slogans. Jude was later released. Whether there was a case
against him under normal law is doubtful.

Amparai District:

A fedurethat isrelevant in the Amparai District is that the Tamils suffered very badly in
1990 from the adions of the Armed Forces. Since then they have led a suppressed
existence overwhelmed by a perception of rising Musilm dominance and the impunity
enjoyed by the Armed Forces. An utterly ridiculous instance of this transpired in August
1996 The STF in Kalmunai killed two innocent Tamil boys on the stred and claimed that
they were on their way to assassinate two visiting Muslim ministers. The PA government
commended then with a cah reward and a promotion for the officer!

With the LTTE given free movement, most Tamils conscious of the LTTE's deliberate
betrayal in 1990 leg a caitious distance. Not unexpededly, however, there is an element
among the young using the LTTE's presence to come out of their suppressed existence
and show defiance. Some of the young boys who used to behave humbly before the STF
show no resped now. They ride with the LTTE in vehicles geeding past chedpoints that
daunted them in the past. Tamil boys from Veaamunai burning tyres in the streds of the
Muslim bastion of Sammanthurai as they did during a recent LTTE-instigated hartal
would have been unthinkable in the past.

Many senior residents also hasten to add that a balanced view must be taken of the STF.
It is relatively a disciplined force in comparison with the Army and Police. However, it
was also known to have been brutal at times. There is further a feeling prevalent among
many that the Tamils would not have survived in the villages and paddy lands west of
Kamunai and Sammanthurai if not for the STF. The STF had on several occasions
prevented things from falling apart. This happened particularly in the wake of LTTE
attadks on Sinhalese villages in the aea About 1996 seven Tamils were killed in
reprisals after the LTTE killed a Sinhalese policeman. Then Sarath Silva, ASP, STF,
safeguarded the Tamil civilians by temporarily moving them to Senaikkudy and
arranging mobile patrols to maintain order. Other STF officers whose work has been
appreciated in recant yeas are ASP Seneviratne and Jayantha Gamage.
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The assessment of the people must be taken in the context of prevailing uncertainty about
the LTTE's agenda. They know that its military caculations were not only unconcerned
about the safety of civilians, but were deliberately aimed at increasing deah and
destruction. Here it becomes natural for them to leave political considerations aside and
make pragmatic assessments about the various parties that carry arms and will determine
their future.

We will list below the main incidents as reported by Tamilnet and where possible make
our observations. Where a violation has resulted in deabh, injury or damage to property,
verification is relatively essy. Where it is an allegation of thred, abuse or assault not
involving injury, firm conclusions may not be possble.

22" May, Thirukkovil: Kopan, a member of the LTTE medical corps, was arrested by
the STF at Kanjirankuda south of Thirukkovil, apparently for not having proper papers or
a licence. Acocording to Tamilnet, in an item titled 'STF commandos fire on
demonstration' issued the same day, Kopan was beaen by the STF and a aowd of more
than 1000 githered in front of the Thirukkovil STF camp to protest against the arest and
assault. Tamilnet goes on to quote the local MP Chandranehru Ariyanayagam to the
effed that the STF 'opened fire indiscriminately on the crowmds. It added that one 12-
yea-old student Ranjan Mano of Methodist Mission School was injured. It was later
reported that K opan was produced before the Akkaraipattu magistrate and released on
Rs. 10 000bail.

However, there is general consensus among local observers that after the arest of
K opan, the LTTE went to schools in the area and ordered teadersto bring their children
and come to the STF camp. Having done this, LTTE agents provocateurs threw stones at
the STF camp. The STF fired into the air to disperse the aowd. The aowd ran in panic.
Ranjan Mano (12) who was also an inmate of the Methodist Boys' Home was pushed
against a barbed wire fence A barb aggravated a wound he already had and he fell down.
An STF officer picked him up, took him to hospital and had the gash stitched. The boy
was then normal.

When the boy was later questioned by the LTTE, he had reportedly said that he was shot.
His classteacher then questioned him and he stated what is written immediately above.
Those familiar with the case assert that the wound was obviously not caused by a bullet.
These fads are well established. However, the better story (i.e. the shooting version)
recived wide publicity. It was broadcast on BBC (Tamil Service) by the local
correspondent and later repeaed most unusually in the English Press in Colombo and in
foreign media. Tamilnet repeaed again on 30" May that the boy had been shot by the
STF.

26™ May, Veeramunai: According to Tamilnet, the incident involving Kopan and the
STF firing 'indiscriminately’ at over 1000 potestors and injuring two, triggered off 'riots
and violent protests. The hartal on Thursday 23 May, we are told, was called by the
‘Eastern University Society, Batticaloa Sudents Union, the Ceylon Tamil Teachers'
Union, government offices, shops and lusinesses..." 'Protestors’, Tamilnet says, 'burnt



tires in Batticaloa town and several places in the Amparai District. More than ten
thousand students from 52 schods...marched anddemonstrated ...aganst the STF'.

Following this, on Sunday 26™ May, Tamilnet reports: " Comnondas from the STF camp
in Karaitivu...came to Veaamuna, armed with a list of 30 persons in the \llage. The
commandcs identified each person's home. They had then sumnoned some people in the
area andthreatened them that the \illage would haveto face death after a month ard that
each family shoud have two coffins ready."

From our inquiries, an incident along the lines reported dd take place The STF's manner
of countering the LTTE's politics shows that it has leant little. Veagamunai suffered
enormously at the hands of the State in 1990 (seeour Special Report No.3). To illustrate
the people's gate of mind, during one raid alone the Army caried off 42 youths from the
Pillayar Temple refugee amp, who were then killed at Kondavedduvan army camp.
Subsequently, their mothers, in the company of some elders, met then Deputy Defence
Minister Ranjan Wijeratne in the Thirukkovil STF camp. On inquiring about their
children, the Minister replied in English that they have gone to heaven and asked the
eldersto trandlate it. When the latter declined, he asked them for the Tamil word and told
the mothers that their sons have gone to ‘'motcham’ (heaven in Tamil). The mothers threw
dust into the air saying 'you goto the dust' and went away.

Unlike many Sinhalese mothers who had similar experiences under the same
Government, their ethnicity has marked out the people of Veaaminai for a beleaguered
existence devoid of hope even after 12 years. The LTTE is now giving the youth a dhance
to asert themselves by burning tyres on the streds, only to suffer more later on. This
happened in Trincomalee soon after the IPKF arrived in 1987 The Sri Lankan Army
exacted a heavy price in 199Q when about 900 Tamil youth disappeaed in Trincomalee.

29" May, Karaitvu: The STF arrested 4 youths on the street, reportedly roughed them
up and claimed in the morning they were suspected of intendingto rob abank. The LTTE
instigated a hartal with the usual burning of tyres. Mr.Shanmuganathan from the Local
Monitoring Committee who came to settle the matter, later received two threaening
call's, apparently because he was suspeded of having a hand in the hartal. According to
our sources, the four youths are recent school leavers who were known to the STF. They
asociate the problem with wounded dignity on the part of the STF under the new
circumstances.

Jaffna:

20" June: The beating up of two LTTE men in Veanai

The LTTE was first refused permisson to do ‘political work' in the Islands off Jaffna in
keegping with the MoU on the grounds that these islands comprised a high seaurity zone.
The LTTE insisted, the Norwegians negotiated and permisson was finally granted.
During the night of 20" June, Chemmanan and another member of the LTTE political
wing who were newly arrived in Velanai were assaulted by a group of men who allegedly
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came in a truck. The LTTE was quick to acaise the Navy and the EPDP. The
Government at the request of the SLMM appointed a commisson to probe into the
matter.

At the level of propaganda, the LTTE ostensibly wanted to do 'politicd work' peacfully
in the Islands and their emissaries were violently abused by alien oppressors and ‘anti-
national forces. The dtadk, whoever was responsible, was politically wrong and should
be condemned. But the truth is always stranger than fiction. As we said at the beginning,
much of the problem is to do with the need to multiply numbers in a depoliticised brute
forcethat atomised the community, and a bad MoU that recognises sich tragic fiction as
the LTTE doing 'politica work'.

We give what we have learnt from authoritative sources close to the LTTE. Ever since
the LTTE set upits politicd office in Jaffna during April, Thamil Chelvan, the leader of
the Political Wing, has been pressing those sent to Jaffna to send many more reauits.
Thamil Chelvan kept complaining that their efforts in this direcion were inadequate and
that reauitment was their principal responsibility, while they should do their other work
as well (e.g. extortion). All their leave to spend time with their families was cancelled
until 1000 persons had been sent for military training. Initially they got up to a dozen a
day, but the number dwindled. Yogan, nom de guerre Chemmanan, a native of Kayts,
argued with Thamil Chelvan that if they could send them to the Islands, he would find
hundreds quickly.

This was during May when controversy over the Islands was going on. Those left in the
Islands, Jaff na's one time commercial powerhouse, were poor folk whose children lacked
entertainment. The EPDP was fairly well established in the Islands, and several of them
had their families there. The Seaurity Forces too regarded the Islands a safe area They
had little confidencethat the LTTE would not resort to war and so were anxious to keep
the LTTE out. The EPDP too shared this anxiety. The EPDP had lost political power at
the last elections and since then they had reduced their movements and generally stayed
in their camps.

The only evidencethat the EPDP was involved in the asault on the LTTE men was that
some of the nine or so attadkers were in mufti, rather than uniform. Many who are avare
of the EPDP's present vulnerability do not think that the leadership would promote such
adions at this time. Their relations with the Navy too are not the best. But in the given
reality it is very plausible that the local cadre would have been diredly or indiredly
encouraged to show their anger against the LTTE. The LTTE however drags in the
names of parties opposed to them at every pretext with a view to justifying something
terrible when an oppatunity arises. In Sedion 11.3.2 we give the case of an EPDP
member who was abducted by the LTTE on 9" May 2002while visiting his sster in the
Vanni and of two more with EPDP connedions recantly. There is little the EPDP can do
about it. They are helpless

Within the LTTE, it is al agog with conscription for the coming deluge. Young
conscripts, many of them going through some difficulty at home, are daily sent by bus



with an ‘uncle’ or an ‘aunty' to tour the Vanni. There ae also cases where the parents had
intercepted them at the ICRC exit point from Jaffna and got them out. Paapaa, the
deputy political leader of the LTTE in Jaffna, now avoids as far as possible, going to their
Potpathy Road office becaise there ae daily dozens of agonised mothers crying outside.

So, it isto the smiling and soft-spoken Thamil Chelvan that the Al, UNICEF and many
others go, for pledges about stopping child conscription. These, he readily gives them as
he did to the Al and UNICEF about 19" June, and are quickly broken. Our cases show
that on 22™ June itself at least 5 children were abducted at temple festivals in the
government-controlled area of Batticdoa. And who took them for handing over to
military trainers? Ironicaly, it had to be Thamil Chelvan's subordinate Thurai, after
being kept overnight in the political officein Kallady. Political work indeed!

The recent aggresson against the Muslims in Mutur and the violence in Valaichenai on
27" June must be seen in the mntext of the LTTE's politics and its alienation of the
Tamils themselves. Any readive violence on the part of marginal Muslim elements was
more than matched by the LTTE's orchestration and organisational power.

10. The Useful Anti-Muslim Frenzy

10.1 General Considerations

The Muslims in the North-East are being caught up in a difficult and dangerous
predicament for no fault of their own. Under the LTTE's monopoly the Tamil community
had suffered enormous lf-inflicted injury. Everything has been subjugated to building
up perishable and socially unsupportable military might. In the East the Tamils are
feeling themselves progressively enfeebled beside their Muslim neighbours. This has
resulted in a aop of myths and fears. The Muslims in turn have to contend with the
enormous destructive power of the Tamils. They can counter this only by inflicting
similar damage on their community and destroying the democratic and moderate
charader of Muslim politics.

It isa misfortune that the present peace processis about legitimising unwholesome
trends that brought the so-called moderatesto their knees through the use of terror
and a manipulation of their weaknesses. This logic is now being extended to the
Musdlim community. This is not a peace processfounded on justice and truth, but
rather on being wilfully blind to the malignant nature of Tamil ideology and its lf-
evident destructive power. The Southern peace lobby's default in coming to easy
terms with this would ultimately confer r espectability to the temporarily eclipsed
Sinhalese supremacist forces.

The SLMC leader Rauf Hakeem's MoU with the LTTE leader was an attempt to seaure
autonomy of life within predominantly Muslim areas and safeguard Muslim interests in
the envisaged Interim Administration under the LTTE. The LTTE no doubt needed thisto
obtain Musilm consent, but is on the other hand caught up in the web of its own
destructiveness Many Tamils perceive this MoU as a conspiracy against them. It appeas
to them to allow the Muslims to get on with life and prosper, while the Tamils are being
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brought to the doldrums by losing their children and properties to satisfy the LTTE's
demands. The LTTE's responses to such presaures leave it satisfying neither the Tamils
nor the Muslims,

We have had dark hints by Karikalan about setting right allegedly unfair gains made by
Muslims. There ae then statements such as the one by the LTTE's area leader in
Kalmunai quoted above, calling upn the Tamils to stand together to fight the Musilms.
Apart from these, the agreement with the SLMC was continually being jeopardised by the
LTTE's moves aimed at establi shing its own monopolies over profitable aeas of trade.

About 12" June, the LTTE issued an order to Tamils in Valaichenai. They were told not
to buy sand or stone from Muslims, and not to have joint undertakings with Muslims such
as in the fish trade. It further added that those who aa in breach of this order would face
severe purishment. These gpea to be the beginning of further moves to undermine age-
old traditional dealings by which the two communities profited jointly.

One such instance of mutual benefit used to be the trade in fish, prawns and jungle honey
between the Vaharai folk and businessmen in Oddamavady. Vaharai isnow inthe LTTE-
controlled areaand the LTTE has monopoly rights over much of the produce Reggie, a
brother of Commander K aruna, controls the trade in fish and prawns. The LTTE has its
own arrangements for freezing, padking and marketing. According to the locals, they
reeive apittance @mpared with what the Muslim traders in Oddamavady used to pay
them. The prospeds of peacehave done nothing to lift their gloom.

The LTTE recantly made agesture by calling yoon the Muslims whom they expelled to
return to Jaffna. Some of them, as they had done during many yeas past, bought scrap
metal in Jaffna to be transported and sold in the South. The transportation of this was
blocked by the LTTE. There is no use for this metal in Jaffna. The Muslims concerned
are a the time of writing still appealingtothe LTTE.

A large proportion of Muslims in the North-East are urban folk. If their ability to trade
were aamped, they would find life very difficult. We have seen that the LTTE's demands
have dready brought many farmers to ruin. These things happening prematurely, as it
were, while still under army-control, does not make the proposed interim administration
credible, unlessfirm asaurances are forthcoming fromthe LTTE.

Against this badkground, one should not look for isolated causes for the disturbances in
the East that began recently in Mutur. They were waiting to happen and nealed only a
pretext. We give below in point form some fadors that have exacerbated the situation in
the East.

1. Mutur attack not isolated: There is no reason to believe that the dtadk onthe LTTE
office in Mutur during the night of Friday 21% June was communal in nature. The
Tamils too were dienated by taxation, extortion and conscription. During earlier
months a number of Muslims had been abducted for ransom. A week before the
attadk on the Mutur office the LTTE office in Pesalai, Mannar Island, too was
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attadked. This was not by Muslims but by Tamil fishermen. The situation pertaining
to Mutur will be described below.

2. Fears about the North-East Interim Administration: The Muslims had suffered
terrible violence d the hands of the LTTE during 199092. Earlier too they had been
at the receiving end of the misdemeanours of other Tamil militant organisations.
Hence their feeling of inseaurity under any Tamil militant dispensation is
understandable. The Muslims (in addition to a significant sedion of the Tamils) have
depended on the presence of the Sri Lankan Forces for their protection. The LTTE
has been pressing for a withdrawal of these forces. As for the protection of Muslims
in an LTTE dominated regime, Karikalan told Paul Harris in the now famous
interview (Daily Telegraph, late March 20®): "Mudims must have faith in
Prabhakaran. If he tells the cadres not to act against them, then they will not dare".
No one in the world should be happy with such a dubious guarantee

3. The extinction of the Tamil moderates in politics: The older generation of Tamil
nationalists from the Federal Party and TULF tried to cary the Muslims along and
always advocaed playing fair by the Muslims. Their personal friendship with Muslim
leaders was very close. Lealers like Amirthalingam and Sivasithamparam were
respeded by the Muslims and were realily acorded hospitality in their areas. Even
during the 1980Gs when Tamil nationalism was drifting in such a way that it could not
acommodate Muslim interests in the East, personal good relations between the
leaders helped to maintain a wide bridge between the two communities.

Regrettably, a number of Tamil leaders who played this necessary role have been kil led
by the LTTE. Among them were Amirthalingam, Tiruchelvam and Thangathurai. Also
killed by the LTTE was the latter's friend A.L.A. Majeed MP in 1987 Majeal helped to
maintain Tamil-Musil m unity in the Mutur areg and was a strong voice ajainst the UNP
government's grategy in 19850f fomenting Tamil-Muslim violence

Having rerrowly survived an LTTE assassination attempt in 1989 Sivasithamparam
was in his latter days cowed down by LTTE terror. Nevertheless, he had always
condemned violence ajainst the Muslims (without mentioning the agent) and this came
from the heart, from values held dear. However, most Tamil MPs are now in the TNA, a
surrogate of the LTTE. The LTTE has been progressively replacing the moderate TULF
elements, often through murder, by those who belong to the political riff-raff. Several of
them who were LTTE nominees on TNA lists have already been eleded. In their
positions and attitudes towards Muslims they will go along with Karikalan without the
dlightest intellecual or moral qualms.

Thus, during the recent disturbances Mr.Rauf Hakeem, the leader of the Sri Lanka
Muslim Congress (SLMC), quite rightly appealed to the Muslims not to indulge in
violence and to remain calm. He too observed almost apologetically that there was no
convincing apped from the Tamil side. This is an example of how the &sence of
independent Tamil moderates harms the Tamil cause, besides being an obstacle to peace
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The qualitative difference in the aticulated outlook of the two communities appears in a
leaflet issued by Muslims during the recent disturbances. It declared, " We will exend ou
handin the cuse of fraternity, but in the cause of justice (rights) we will raise our voice"
("Uravukku Kai Koduppon, Urimaikku Kural Koduppan'). This is eminently
ressonable. The LTTE-inspired voices on the Tamil side were not talking about
reconciliation, but rather about pinning a grand '‘Osama’ conspiracy on a humble and
insular Muslim population.

4. The SLMC-LTTE Pact: At the time of last December's eledions, the LTTE clearly
understood from leading members of the UNP that a new UNP government would
give them control of the North-East expeditiously. The SLMC, which was in alliance
with the UNP, had no choice but to make the best possble deal with the LTTE. But
Muslim politics is diversified and the SLMC should have asociated Muslim
representatives from other parties in any deal with the LTTE. However, the SLMC
went alone to med the LTTE leader, and in return for the SLMC's support for the
envisaged 'peace process, the LTTE declared the SLMC to be the representatives of
the Muslims.

This was in defiance of eledoral realities. For Muslim politicians supporting parties
other than the SLMC, it also creaed the problem of whether they would be allowed to
function in an LTTE-dominated North-East. Nevertheless, had the LTTE allowed the
Muslims to get on with life freeof harassment, the SLMC could have taken credit. As
things turned out, the LTTE's compulsions have not made things comfortable for the
SLMC. The other Muslim politicians have little incentive to pull the SLMC's
chestnuts out of the fire.

5. Extremist elements: There had been localised violence between Muslims and Tamils
in ealier times, but never total organised riots. The first time this happened was in
1985 when the UNP government adively armed and organsied the unruly fringe
among Muslims in a bid to crush the Tamil militancy through terror. These same
elements were armed as home guards by the UNP government in 1990and used as
minions and scapegoats for reprisal violence ajainst Tamil civilians. Undoubtedly,
these elements would have been scared about a peaceprocessthat placed them at the
LTTE's mercy. But they would not have been a problem had the LTTE behaved
towards the Muslims in an enlightened manner.

However, when the LTTE began its abductions for ransom, extortion and stealing
vehicles from Muslims, the latter as a whole felt threaened. When the Sri Lankan forces
stood hy passively and allowed this to go on under their very noses, it is understandable
that the home guard types among Muslims would have begun colleding grenades and
small wegons. The LTTE's paranoia & such counter-developments is refleded in
Karikalan's remark to Paul Harris in March: "Mudlims are preparing for war. The Jhad
organsation was importing ams when Mr.Ashraff was minister of Ports. Now there are
stockpiles of armsin evey \ll age.”



LTTE-related propaganda has loved to use grand names such as 'Jihad' and ‘Osama
Group to describe such ad ha responses by a sedion of the Muslims to a situation
where the Government had abdicated its obligation to uphold the law. '‘Osama Group isa
useful name lculated to divert the US government's present unfavourable focus on the
LTTE. Nothing in the violence by Muslims has evinced organisation or sophistication.

There is nothing pointing to Middle-Eastern funding or importation of wegpons. There
was nothing attributed to Muslims in the recent violence even to remotely match the
number of wegoons floating freely in this country that surface in crime and in fighting
eledions. '‘Osama’ and 'Jihad are hype for loose disparate groups that are best described
as ex-home guards and market thugs. However, if the present trend of cornering the
Muslim community continues, it is only logical that increasingly sophisticated militant
formations will emerge.

6. Hartal Politics: The manner in which the LTTE was imposing hartals in the East at
the drop of a pin would have been an irritant, particularly to the Muslims. Mr.
Soundaranayagam, LTTE representative on the Amparai Monitoring Committeewas
quaed by Tamilnet (30.05.02): "Protesting through a hatal is a fundamental
democratic right of the people.” When the Muslims exercised this 'fundamental
democratic right' for the first time on 27" June, it sparked off clashes in Valaichenai.
Ironicaly, an LTTE-dedared hartal was being observed in Jaff na on the same day.

7. Inactivity of the Security Forces. There is a widespread belief among the Tamils
and Muslims that the Seaurity Forces encouraged the violence or, at least, simply let
it go on. This fea needs to be allayed since little has been done over the yeas to
restore the bora fides of the seaurity Forces in the East. There was arson in
Valaichenai just nea the police station and little was done to control the situation
there on 27" June, whether by the Army or the Police, until after SLMM officials
arrived. It must however be pointed out that Tamil mobs were backed by the LTTE,
the main provocateur, and the Muslims were the worg affected. Some of the
foregoing will receive clarificaion in our acount below of some obscure aspeds of
the developments.

10.2 Beginningsin Mutur: The Wraith of Osama

Mutur (66" Milepost) lies north of Pachchanoor (62" Milepost) along the Batticaloa
Trincomalee Road. 64™ Milepost used to be aMuslim-dominated area but most of them
have moved northwards neaer Mutur since the advent of troubles. About half way
between Pachchanoor and 64" Milepost (i.e. 63 MP) there lies a hillock atop which 14
concrete aosses were installed last April. This was done by Roman Catholics who are
numerous around Pachchanoor and it caused some unhappiness among the loca Hindus
and Muslims who had complained to the DS that this was an illegal construction on
crown land.
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The same hillock has a granite facewhere stone is quarried as is done & several places
along the main road. There is a permanent army post about a mile from the hillock
towards Mutur and police post nea the adosses, both with a view to protecting the main
road. While the main road is under army control, the LTTE controlled arearuns parallel
to the road, so that the back of the hillock faces LTTE controlled areato the eat. During
the night of 20" June, one of the aosses was broken. Word was sread that Muslims
were responsible resulting in a tense situation.

In the evening of the following day, 21% June, Friday, the Police OIC of the aeaheld a
meeing in Pachchanoor to resolve the tension. All Muslim religious heals from the
mosques in Mutur attended the meeting. The OIC head both sides and resolved that the
Muslims could not have broken the cross After the meding, about 6.00 PM, a gang
waiting on the road nea the hillock badly bea up a Muslim passer-by.

Shortly after the Muslim victim reached Mutur, about 6.45 PM, the LTTE Mutur office
was attacked. The office was closed and empty at that time. These ae basically the
material fads. A view acceted widely among Tamils is that the dtadkers were persons
close to the beaten victim. An explanation offered for this is that among those who bea
up the Muslim man were persons closely associated withthe LTTE.

The rest then appeas to have followed in the natural order of things. Tamils incensed by
the dtadk on the LTTE office took out a demonstration leading to clashes with the
Muslims.

However, other local testimony caries us off in a different diredion. It is from
Padhchanoor folk that we get some rather unusual testimony, but in trying to sort it out
we aiter miry ground. Thus dories that came initially, soon after the incident, were
positively bizarre. We posed questions to our sources, who in turn made further inquiries
and so it went. We describe how it went.

The first story we received was that the mob that broke the LTTE office was led by
Hakkim, a butcher and a member of 'Jihad’, and that he was joined in that enterprise by
an ex-L TTEer named Ranjan. This did not make sense.

Next we were told that neither Hakkim nor Ranjan was involved in the dtadk on the
office. No one had seen the ataders. But the general talk in the aeais that Ranjan was
the cause of their troubles that had made many of them, including Tamils, refugees.
Ranjan, they said had joined some Muslims and broken the doss But there was no word
of anyone being eyewitness to the incident. The involvement of Muslims, people of the
areasaid, was suggested by notices found at the broken cross claiming that the 'Osama
Front' was responsible. Still rather puzzling.

On making further inquiries, a journalist familiar with the aeaassrted that Ranjan was
in the group that beat up the Muslim passer-by. But he muld not say whether Ranjan was
connected with the bre&ing of the cross We put down what appea to be the reasonably
well-grounded fads.
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« A crosswas broken on the night of 20" June and the people had been told that the
miscreants had left claims on paper saying that they are from the '‘Osama Front'.

* In the minds of many people the Tamil man Ranjan was instrumental in their
troubles. He was also asciated with beaing the Muslim man.

» Although influenced by the name 'Osama Front' being bandied about, the Tamil
people were uncomfortable with the idea that the bre&king of the aosswas simply a
Muslim conspiracy. They believed that there was Tamil involvement with a view to
creaing trouble and that Ranjan'srole in the entire affair was mala fide.

* Ranjan was a well-known person. Also well known around Mutur were his close
conrections to the LTTE. One or more persons in the aowd which attacked the
Muslim man were linked to the LTTE. It wasthis that led to the dtad on the empty
LTTE office

A glance & Ranjan’'s associations explain the suspicion many people felt about the whole
affair and their discomfort with blaming the Muslims. Ranjan is an ex-LTTE member
from the aeawho is married and lives with his family. The people ae skeptical about the
LTTE's claim that he is not now their man. Ranjan is known to visit frequently the LTTE
establishments east of Mutur town.

One of Ranjan's occupations is the clandestine trade in timber felled in the LTTE-
controlled areathat is bought by Muslims in Mutur. He is esentiall y thus an intermediary
in trade between the LTTE and the Muslims. Apart from being close to the LTTE, Ranjan
is also identified by Tamils as being close to the Muslims. This may explain the origin of
the rumour that Ranjan joined the Muslims in breaking the cossand later in attadking the
LTTE office. It also explains why people felt that there was smething fishy in the stories
about Muslim culpabil ity.

We may conclude that the association of any Muslim group called Osama or otherwise
with the bre&ing of the aosswas never established. Claims about pieces of paper at the
scene bearing the name Osama are not even grounds for reasonable suspicion, for those
who want to act responsibly.

Such being the @ase @lls into question the adions of the LTTE, some TNA leaders and,
sadly, the Tamil media. In the days following the dtad on the LTTE office they all
made aconcerted effort to give flesh to the wraith called 'Osama Front' through frequent
repetition. It caught on. Tamilnet used Osama Front and ‘Ildamic Extremists
interchangeably. TULF General Seaetary and one time moderate R. Sampanthan
‘accused a Muslim group calling itself Osama o having started the incidents (Sundy
Times 30" June 2002. The name itself first came to pulic noticewhen in complaining to
the SLMM about the dtad on the office the LTTE blamed the 'Osama wing of the Jihad
Group (Tamil net 23.06.02).

The LTTE gave the game away by its gatement, which appeared in the Virakesari pf 26™

June, Tuesday. Condemning the dtadk on its office & Alayady, Mutur, it said 'Our
patience shoud na be taken for weakness. The act itself was described as an insult to the
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soul of the Tamil Nation. It described Osama as the same party responsible for breging
the aqoss and the atadk on its office. Accusing the Muslims and their leaders of
protecting the group, the statement added that they cannot accept that it is a small group
until its members are arested. The obligation to strengthen Tamil-Muslim relations was
placal squarely on the shoulders of the latter. It 'opined' that the relations between the
communities will improve 'if Mudlim intellecduals and leaders would take measures to
keep their people under control'.

Ironicdly, it was this ssme demand made upon Tamil intelleduals and leaders in the
197G and 8(Cs by the Sinhalese government brandishing the big stick over their heads,
which confirmed the Tamils colledively in a state of rebellion. Today it is the turn of the
'sole representatives of the Tamils' to repea this folly.

This was a virtual declaration of war against the Muslim community. If a responsible
newspaper were reporting such a malignant statement against another minority, it should
not have left it there. It should have cmmented on it and condemned it. The LTTE no
doubt knew the fads better than anyone else. There was no evidence to conned Muslims
with the destruction of the doss Among a hundred and one reasons people may have for
attaking an LTTE office the LTTE knew that there was an immediate reason - the
beaing of the Muslim man. Then why blow it out of proportion? The likely answer is
that the LTTE was getting annoyed by Muslim reactions and complaints that pertained to
its extortion and stealing of catle and vehicles. The LTTE wanted to make an
intimidatory show of brute power. Other circumstances too point towards it.

Although the LTTE statement above was attributed to the Political Wing of Trincomaleg
one wuld be fairly sure that this was mainly a measure of convenience The top leaders
could then shift the responsibility if needed. It was after all blowing upa problem in a
small town to include all Muslims. The LTTE lealership certainly owed the SLMC
leader Rauf Hakeem the wurtesy of communicaing with him immediately when a
problem of such magnitude aose. The LTTE lealership did not. When Hakeem
telephoned the politicd leader Thamil Chelvan on 25" June itself, the latter was not
available and it was a subordinate he spoke to. Hakeem and Thamil Chelvan reportedly
spoke only on the 27" evening!

On the same day that the statement above was released, the LTTE had called a hartal. A
large procession came into Mutur from villages to the south including Panchchanoor,
Manalchenai, Mallikaitivu and Raalkuli. Among them were persons carrying hicycle
chains and other wegoons. It was then that the trouble started. We cannot dedde who
threw the first stone or plunged the first knife. The question is irrelevant. The LTTE
statement above determined the tone of the LTTE-orchestrated procession. There was an
inherent desire to show the Muslims their place and the procession came well-armed for
thuggery and vandalism. There was even reported a tractor-trailer bringing youths armed
with crowbars. The Muslims were themselves not in a mnfrontational mood. They were
respeding the hartal and had closed their businesses.



Vandalism was part of the spirit of the procession and it has been reported that from 64"
Milepost onwards dones were thrown at Mudim houses and Muslims were dtaded,
humiliated and robbed. In Mutur a aowd of Muslims gathered spontaneously to block
this procession, while some in the procession tried to rob fuel from a petrol shed with a
view to arson. This was the first time during the aisis that Tamils and Muslims clashed
as mobs, largely by stone throwing.

The Tamil mob retreated after damaging several shops and driving away many heals of
cdtle. They also broke down fences and drove cdtle into fields of cultivated paddy
ruining or damaging hundreds of the 6000 aaes of crop belonging to Mudims. The
Majidun Noor Mosque before the 64" Milepost was also burnt. Instead of bringing
matters to an end, it acted as a further provocation. Whole villages of both communities
were displacad and much property was destroyed. Although Rauf Hakeem condemned
the dtadk on the LTTE office and appealed to Muslims to remain calm, he seemed to get
little help fromthe LTTE.

The Virakesari (26" June) gave a version that rationalised the acion of the Tamil mob. It
said it had receved information that Sarveswaran (31), who was in the procession
coming from 58" Milepost, was attadked by the gang called 'Osama Group nea the 64"
Milepost and suffered cut injuries. Reports sy, it added, that the people who became
angry advanced towards 64" Milepost. It does not say that any from Osama Group
suffered retaliatory violence a that point, although it reports that three Muslims were
injured in clashes at Cemetery Junction, Mutur Town. The report discredits itself by its
gratuitous introduction of Osama. According to well placal Muslim sources in the aea
there was no significant incident until the procession reated Mutur town.

Interestingly, the same Virakesari reporter told the BBC (TS) that the Tamil procession
started at Killiveddy and ended at the 64" Milepost, well short of Mutur. He explained
the violence in Mutur as resulting from a group of 'youths roaming the town, whose
Muslims on his own admisgon had pu up shutters to co-operate with the LTTE hartal,
clashing with another group.

However some of the adions of the protest marchers during their advance to Mutur are
described in the Tamil Muslim journal Meelpaarvai (Review): The protesters went into
the house of Marzuka (42), broke her furniture and attadked her and her daughters who
had come of age. Of the 16 gpats the woman possessed, some were slashed to death with
knives, some were beaen to deah and the rest were taken away. A Muslim schoolboy
was beaen on his heal with stones and injured. The protesters entered houses and
plucked away jewellery from Muslim women and robbed hicycles bullock carts and
much cattle. No mainstream Tamil paper reported these.

It isclea that the Tamil procession was well armed, backed by the LTTE in the shadows,
if not diredly, and was intent on violence One cannot otherwise explain the apparent
absence of the normally overadive LTTE in any of the reports. The Thinakkural reported
on the 27" that during the two days of clashes six Muslims and a Tamil suffered cut
injuries. The Tamil victim was Sarvananthan - same as Sarveswaran above? One
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Muslim was gabbed when he tried on the 26" to photograph the burnt mosque nea the
64" Milepost. The same day the house of the Virakesari reporter who also reports for the
BBC (TS) was aso attaded by a Muslim nob.

A Muslim named Aziz of Mutur who was travelling to Mutur in a vehicle on the 25" was
abducted at 64" Milepost and escaped the following day with cut injuries. His Muslim
companions from Thoppu had been allowed to proceed. For afew days subsequently the
Muslims in town were preventing Tamils from the south (Padhchanoor etc.) coming into
town, but those from the eat (Sambur etc.) were bringing their produce into town.
Clearly, the people in general wanted to avoid trouble.

10.3 Valaichenai Burns

On the 27", a seation of the Muslims responding to cumulative humiliation, exercised the
‘democratic right' claimed by LTTE suppating Tamils and called a hartal, lealing to
violence and arson in Valaichenai and Oddamavady. We will not chronicle events widely
reported in the Press However, if the LTTE had respeded the Muslims' claim to the
same democratic rights, things would have blown over relatively peacefully. Instead the
LTTE was deliberately contributing to and orchestrating the mayhem. The dashes left
twelve Muslims dead. The Thinakkural of Sunday 30" June reported that a Tamil youth
Nagalingam Gunasekaram (19) was killed by police firing in Valaichchenai on the 27"
evening.

It is clea that some Muslim ruffians were about the place to enforce the hartal and stop
the pulic transport. Meelparvai of July reports that the incidents were minor until the
LTTE came in the morning to stop the hartal, make the buses run and force the Muslims
to open their shops. When they failed they started arson and some attacks on Muslims.
Then the call went out over the Jumma Mosgue loudspedkers summoning the Muslims to
protect the Mosgue. When a Muslim crowd gathered, the LTTE threw grenades, killing
Shahabdeen (37) and Saleem (15) on the spot and injuring 42 others. It was then that
clashes began in earnest. This version is more explanatory than others. Five Muslims
were killed in this confrontation. The other three ae Anwer (20), Hajamohideen (39)
and M ubarak. We will describe one incident that clealy pointsto the orchestration.

ThreeMuslim cooks had been brought the previous day from Oddamavady to prepare the
wedding repast at the home of a Tamil bride & Vipulananda Stred, Peththalai,
Valaichenai. The wedding was on the fateful day of 27" June. There was alrealy trouble
inthe bazaa. A Tamil gang of about 20 men led by the LTTE came to the bridal home &
10.00 AM, armed with sticks. They tried to take the Muslims. The folk at home and some
leading glests objeded that this was wrong and contrary to the MoU. The gang
withdrew.

The gang, enlarged in numbers, returned at 11.00 AM, beat the elder man among the
Muslims and took away the two younger men, Hyath Mohamed Janudeen (26) and
Hyath Mohamed Janushdeen (20). They were tortured to death in the same aeaand
buried in shallow graves. According to testimony quoted from the father, Ramlan



Mohamed (65), the beaen and wounded brothers were lynched. The spot is barely a mile
from the LTTE office along the road to Kalkudah and firmly within the anbit of LTTE
surveil lance.

On Sunday 30" June, the local magistrale Mr. Gaffoor and the DMO Dr.
Thatchanamoorthy, went with the father, about half a dozen Muslims, a senior police
official and some 100 soldiers under Major Hettiarachchi to colled the bodies.
According to the testimony given by this officer to the Sunday Leader (7.7.02) they were
surrounded by about 300 LTTE men and given a doice between leaving behind the
Muslims or leaving behind the bodies. In the name of the peace processthey left behind
the bodies.

Journalists Paul Harris and S.S. Selvanayagam who tried to read the bodies were
turned badk by a aowd throwing cradkers at their vehicle. This was a highly organised
affair. The bodies were then placed on tyres and bunt. The LTTE was clearly anxious to
avoid any legal proceelings. Ironically again, the LTTE has made good use of Sri
Lanka's notorious Emergency Regulation 15A, which Tamil human rights activists had
campaigned against for ages!

The bride in the gisode above is Chandra, daughter of Ice Vadi Kanagaratnam. All
those d the wedding were deeply upset and the food prepared by the deceased remained
uneaen. Chandra works for the NGO Thadaham and among the guests were prominent
Tamils from the NGO and mediaworlds. All of them know that the LTTE was behind the
outrage. Moreover, several of them communicaed this to others outside. Even
individuals, who argued with the LTTE during the incident, are now trying to shift the
blame.

Interestingly, even though there were guests closely conneded with the mainstream
Tamil media and the regional paper Thinakkathir, none of them caried the incident. The
only paper to cary it was the weekly Thinamurasu, whose sale in Batticdoa had been
twice banned recently by the LTTE. Circumstantially, there is no doubt that all references
to Tamil mobs during the shameful episode of violence in the East, should be read
'LTTE mobs.

In Kalmunai, a mob of Tamil youth was waiting on the road within a short distance of the
LTTE office to waylay any Muslims who passed by. The LTTE was aware of it sincethe
one-armed area leader was observed coming out, taking a look and going in. He is the
man who spoke of the Tamils having to get together to fight the Muslims. Fortunately,
senior police officials got wind of it and declared curfew. Another Tamil mob with one
man having a gun was seen in Kalmunaikkudy, bordering the Muslim quarter. Several
Muslims returning from Maruthamunai were however diverted from the main road with
roadblocks at Pandiruppu and detained. Hours later, they were released upon Rauf
Hakeem contading the LTTE leadership.

On the same day, two men, H.M. Kaledl Rajman (22) and P.M. Ajwath (25) who were
returning from Eravur to Vaaichenai were abducted in the general areaof Kiran and are
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since misgng. Paul Harris names Jim Kelly Thatha as the LTTE leader who that
evening had aroad block in Kiran (Mirror 4.7.02). ThreeMuslim fishermen who went to
fish in the Vahaneri reservoir are also missing according to sources in the area They are
N.M. Abusally (35), H.M. Mohamed Usan (44) and M .A. Hyath Mohamed (42).

Throughout the whole crisis the Tamil media were woefully biased, giving the
impresson that the blame lay squarely with the Muslims. Tamilnet told us that the home
of the Virakesari correspondent in Mutur was attadked by a Muslim nob. But the
Muslims also resented the biased coverage and the harm being done to them by
fictitiously linking them with Osama bin Laden. Tamilnet reported on 27" June that ten
Tamil women were abducted by Islamic Extremists at Oddamavady. This is hitherto
totally unsubstantiated. Tamilnet reported a large Muslim mob led by ‘Islamic extremists
attacking the house of SLMC MP and Deputy Minister Mr. M.A. Cader on 28" June
and another similarly inspired mob setting fire to a government office in the Tamil
quarter.

Here again there were unadknowledged causes close to the surface unconnected with
religious extremism. The Muslims who were aout to enter the Oddamavady Mosgue &
12.45PM for Friday prayers were d@tadked by the LTTE which came firing their wegoons
and threw five grenades of which three exploded badly injuring 7 persons. One of the
injured, Mubarak, died in Kandy Hospital subsequently. Moreover, two local Muslim
men who went to cook at a Tamil wedding had been deliberately killed by an LTTE
instigated mob.

This movement which talks about protecting Tamil culture does not have even the
dightest regard for the obligations of courtesy and hospitality. Those who came to
celebrate life were done to death. No Tamil paper or politician would adknowledge that.

10.4 Why all the fuss?

After all the damage was done, by about Friday 28" June the LTTE was Dftening its
stance towards the Muslims. Neaessity perhaps. In a statement published on this day it
appealed to the Tamils not to harm the innocent Muslim populace because of the
atrocities of Muslims who are mercenaries of evil forces. Thisis a @me down from the
statement threedays ealier that deemed all Muslims culpable.

In Trincomalee and Mutur there were talks between the LTTE and Muslim leaders. We
understand from well-placeal sources that the Muslim leaders have identified some of
those who attadked the LTTE office, and the LTTE some who attadked the Muslim man
over the aossincident. Both sides evidently agreed not to release any names now, but
will leave the matter with the Police There was an implicit adknowledgement that the
assault on the man and the dtadk on the office were the key issues. There was apparently
no more insistence that the adoss was broken by Muslims. There was in fad nothing
extraordinary in the dtadk onthe LTTE office.

47



A wee before the atadk on the Mutur office, LTTE's Pesalai office was attadked.
Siruthoppu is a fishing wadi in Pesalai used by fishermen from Vankalai. According to
local tradition all the boats remain moored and seagoing adivity ceases as a mark of
resped whenever there is a funeral in the village. On the day of a funeral at Pesalai, the
LTTE had used a Vankalai fisherman's boat to transport something to the Mainland from
Siruthoppu In the resulting quarrel between the Pesalai and Vankalai folk, the LTTE
sided with the latter. This led to an argument in the LTTE's Pesalai office that ended in
the LTTE men getting thrashed and the office furniture smashed.

The Pesalai men refused to pay LTTE taxes and the LTTE made threas. Finally the
parish priests intervened and persuaded the LTTE to drop the matter. In Mutur however,
no LTTE person was attacked.

10.5 Was the Violence Orchestrated? - A Question for the LTTE

What we have said above mncerning Mutur, where the violence eupted, was largely
gathered from Tamil sources. It raises many questions about the LTTE's conduct, till
nothing definite. After several days effort we obtained testimony from an authoritative
Muslim source through awell wisher. We give the testimony in point form. Its veracity is
not in doubt because it is consistent with what we have already gathered and
complements it.

* The Muslim passer-by who was attadked by the Tamil mob over the adossincident is
Faizal. Faizal identified Ranjan as a member of the mob. It was this that triggered
the atadk onthe LTTE office and the dtadkers were Muslims who were angered by
this.

* The Muslimswere in no doubt about Ranjan's close asciation withthe LTTE. He is
regularly found in the LTTE office Extorting from Muslims is one of his chief
adivities and he isaues receipts in the name of the LTTE for monies received.

» The Police could have defused the tension by arresting Ranjan, which they could
easily have done. But they had been inadive.

» Thereisabsolutely no evidence linking the Muslims with the bre&ing of the aosson
the hillock. The geography described above would make him an extraordinarily
fanatical Muslim who would go there in the dead of the night and make a huge racket
bre&king a mncrete aoss There is a mystery why the police in the neaby post did
not intervene. Perhaps they were asked to avoid anything that may lead to a clash
withthe LTTE.

So here we have it, what erupted in Mutur was all the time a straight matter that was
easily resolved. No grand conspiracies by Muslims. So what was all the fussabout and all
bitterness? The LTTE knew from the beginning that all this talk about an Osama Front
was rubhish and is now deafeningly silent about it. It was orchestrated.

TULF General Seaetary Mr. Sampanthan was quaed in the Sunday Times for the

seond time on 7" July aluding to the Osama group as the troublemaker. Mr.
Sampanthan is an experienced and competent lawyer. He well knows that one should not
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go on repeating such things without any evidence He has not been able to name the
leader of the Osama Group, a member or even a minor functionary who makes tea a
their meetings. This is the pathetic state of the TULF after its snior members garted
running to the LTTE to adjudicate in their internal matters. Where is now the Tamil-
Spe&ing Nation that the TULF once worked for?

We @nnot accet that the LTTE isaued the statement in the Virakesari of 26" June not
knowing the questions raised about their man Ranjan. Accusing the Muslim community
as a whole threaeningly could not have been undertaken lightly. The LTTE top
leadership's failure to communicae with the SLMC leadership duing the aucial days
appeas deliberate. The dharge that the LTTE orchestrated the recent violence ppeas
credible and it is left to the leaders to answer that charge. Further questions about its role
have been raised by the wnduct of its cadres in Valaichchenai, the murders and
abductions.

Other questions have been raised in the report of Paul Harris in the Daily Mirror of 4™

July 2002

* Why did extortion and attadks on local Muslims continue after Minister Hakeem's
MoU with Prabhakaran?

*  Why were four stolen buses parked outside the LTTE office in Valaichchenail on the
morning of June 27",

* Why were LTTE-st%/Ie wegpons used around the mosque [at Oddamavady] around
1.30 PM on June 28"

* Why did armed LTTE cadres in combat uniform [under Jim Kelly Thaththa] block
the road at Kiran around 7 PM?

We may add a further question: Throughout the week of violence, even the pro-LTTE
media were talking about the so-called alien Sri Lankan Army and Police being rushed in
to restore order. However, the LTTE were everywhere ubiquitous and call themselves the
sole legitimate rulers of the North-East. What was their contribution to restoring order?

After all thedamagethe LTTE did to itself and the cause of the Tamilsin the recent
days, there has not been the dightest remor se. Offered on the one hand are honeyed
words inviting the Muslims to reconciliation, but the undertones are menacing. The
statements of LTTE front organisations and NGOs, along with the Tamil media,
highlight violations attributed to Mudims and say nothing about the contrived, ugly
incidents of which the Tamil community ought to be ashamed. On the other hand
the economic life of Mudimsis under constant attack. We have described movesin
the environs of Valaichchenai to cramp the Mudims. In Mutur recently, much
paddy in fields was destroyed and irrigation water for 6000 acres of fields close to
Mutur cultivated by Muslims was blocked by the LTTE. This too was damaging to
the crop. Even if thisistemporary, the message is clear.

We further see dtempts at cornering the Muslims through a strategy of divide and rule.
The LTTE's show of conviviality with discredited Muslim politicians in the UNP who
were instrumental in fomenting violence between Muslims and Tamils in 1985 as part of



government strategy, is a pieceof political bankruptcy that does not augur well. It was
again the East that suffered. This is a move by both sides to clip the wings of the SLMC
that is now complaining aloud about the LTTE.

Nevertheless the UNP Muslim minister from Colombo who was in April 1985 acaised
by the late Mr. Thondaman in cabinet of ading asthe cd's paw in stirring upthe East, is
now photographed beaming in Karikalan's company. The Government has been given
enough and more evidence about the LTTE's recant role in the East. Y, this minister,
along with the Defence Minister, has been quoted exonerating the LTTE. The SLMC is
now being subjeded to the kind of games President Jayewardene played with the TULF
in the late 1970 and ealy 80s. It cetainly does not brighten prospeds for the East. The
Tamils had no problems with the SLMC whose interests always lay in regional harmony.

The Tamils who look at the LTTE's measures against Muslims in the East will be sadly
reminded of the UNP government's aims and strategies in dealing with themselves in July
1983 The rhetoric, propaganda and thuggery were similar. So was the atadk on the
eoconomic life of a minority and the message that its members must accept what the bully
deems good for them. Is this what Tamil self-resped and self-determination have come
to?

The hatred shown towards the Muslims was crude, almost unrelieved by a single ad of
civilian defiance That is the extent to which fascism has degraded Tamil society. Evenin
the aftermath of July 1983there was sme democratic freedom left in the South, which
helped at least a aiticd number of Sinhalese individuals to refled where they were going
and campaign for new values. Does this peaceprocessprovide any such opening for the
Tamils? A word of credit must be given to the Muslims for their restraint. There was
plenty of opportunity for them to harm innocent Tamils where they held badk. What did
the LTTE exped them to do when they threw grenades at Muslims going to prayer at
Oddamavady, knowing that there ae dso Tamilsin that village?

We are once more confronted with a salient feature of LTTE politics that those in
the vanguard of the peace process have refused to come to terms with. By its very
nature the LTTE isin a postion of permanent instability, juggling with mutually
incompatible demands. A combination of internal and external circumstances
pushed it into a peace process. The process required it to strike a deal with the
Musdlim leadership and the pact with the SLMC was very much in its favour. Its
own paranoia and long term aims require a considerable army. Conscription and
extortion to build such a force has alienated both the Tamils and the Mudims.
Playing this game requires constant juggling.

One @nnot say that the top leadership of the LTTE planned every detail in the week's
events. Once the decision to confront the Muslims was taken, the leadership would not
have been in full control of events. The aealeaders around Valaichenai too had their
own compulsions.
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Our chronicle of incidents in this report and our earlier reports show that the LTE has
recently been conscripting children and adults in the poor areas around Valaichenai using
crude and inhuman methods. There was seething resentment against the LTTE. Playing
the Muslim bogey at thistime, and leading the Tamil people in a frenzy of hate against an
imagined Muslim menace, served to distract these people from the misery it had
unleashed on them. Thus in Valaichchenai, an LTTE-instigated mob beat two young
innocent Muslims to death. It was as though by this unconscionable action, the LTTE
helped the Tamil people to expiate the terrible crimes it had committed against them and
their children.

The man in charge of the LTTE office at Valaichchenai is none other than Senathy, who
as seen from reports in Section 6, had distinguished himself in child conscription. He was
there watching everything, taking orders from the top and orchestrating things locally.
According to an eyewitness account, LTTE men were standing in front of his office on
27" June, calling Muslims who passed by and slapping them. They were also calling
Tamil civilians and encouraging them to throw stones at Muslims. Hatred of Muslims
was being cultivated deliberately to hide their depredations against their own people. It is
easy to see where the sadistic killing of the two Muslim cooks nearby fits in.

Such would have come to the LTTE instinctively in the course of events. But the end
result is that it has torn up the invaluable agreement with Rauf Hakeem and there is a
shift in the crisis. The problem of peace has been further complicated. Moreover, al
sections of Tamil society have proved incapable in acting to preserve communal relations
and further the objective of peace. The TNA MPs remained shamelessly within the
confines determined by the LTTE. Only the International Community appears to have the
ability to accomplish some good. An important player on the ground is the Norway-led
SLMM.

11. Norway and the SLMM: Potential and Problems, Conceptual &
Structural

11.1 Good intentions and wrong priorities?

It would be fair to say that few question the competence or utility of the members of the
Sri Lanka Monitoring Mission. During the trouble in Valaichenai, the SLMM arrived
amidst the rioting and exploding grenades. Their arrival acted as a catalyst for the
security forcesto go into action and helped the restoration of order.

In certain areas, they have also proved adept at arm-twisting the LTTE. Whenthe LTTE
wants a house in a particular area, they identify the most vulnerable, such as the elderly,
and order them to vacate. In such circumstances the SLMM has had some success in
evicting the LTTE upon a complaint made. In one case for example they informed the
LTTE that they were coming and went to the house with a video cameraand an LTTE
nominee on the Monitoring Committee. The LTTE men were taken aback, but they quit
after scolding their nominee. Such gains are sometimes short-lived since the LTTE
returns later and triesto have its way. A particular areawhere they have had little success
concerns child conscription that is among the biggest obstacles to peace.
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The SLMM's problems are both conceptual and structural. The @nceptual asped is
evident in its report of 29" May. It listed 196complaints of which 58 were cdegorised as
truce violations. Of these 30 were in Batticdoa among which 10 were abductions. The
forced conscription of children was not listed as a violation. The report observed, "None
of the cease-fire violations has jeopardised the agreement” (Mirror 30-05-02). However,
this position is patently unsustainable even from a pragmatic standpoint.

The LTTE is building a massve offensive capabili ty using child conscripts. It is certainly
not a move to support the peaceprocess Nor can it be explained as gemming from
distrust of the Government. The Government is economically cornered and everyone
knows the mood in the Sri Lankan Army. We have dso seen the extent to which child
conscription contributes to political degradation and indiscipline within the LTTE itself,
rendering it more volatile a an organisation. Despite having a favourable agreement with
the SLMC, it showed its sIf-destructive volatility in its manner of dealing with the
Muslims. How can one then say that child conscription does not jeopardise the cease-fire
agreement?

The SLMM's inability to make an impad on conscription has made people skeptical
about its role. We have found that forced conscription has become ahighly offensive and
obscene part of the cease-fire regime in Batticaloa and to a lesser extent in Trincomalee
Our cases show it happening in urban areas where the Policeand Army are mncentrated.
In suburban Jaffna, outside the LTTE's Potpathy Road office, there ae daily dozens of
mothers crying for their children taken away by the LTTE. An observer remarked, "We
have the SLMM, Palice, Army, NGOs and INGOs here, but there is no one to monitor this
crime”. How does this build confidence?

One might argue that the SLMM has no police powers and can only inquire into
complaints and use pressure. The danger is that where neither inquiry is possible nor
persuasion works, the temptation isto pretend that the issues concerned are unimportant.
This appeas to have become the problem of the SLMM. It might be agued on behalf of
the SLMM that it is best left to look after the cease-fire, while others should raise the hue
and cry about individual violations. What if there is no one the ground doing the latter
(asisthe cae) and the aumulative force of individual violations (as child conscription for
example) moves towards making the much treasured ceae-fire untenable? Is there in
these circumstances any virtue in focussing narrowly on the ceae-fire?

Indeed the SLMM's mandate acording to the MoU is awider one, refleding the faa that
monitoring the cease-fire in isolation is meaningless It has the acessand stature that no
one else has. No human rights group can simply walk into a village and inquire about
child conscription. The SLMM's own experience in this matter speaks volumes.

Article 2.1 of the MoU reads 'The Parties sall in accordance with international law

abstain from hostil e acts aganst the dvilian population, including such acts astorture,
intimidation, extortion and harassnent'
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The introduction to Article 3 reas, ' The Parties have agreed to set up an international
monitoring misson to enquire into any instance of violation of the terms and
conditions of this agreanent'.

The two in conjunction clealy mean that the SLMM's area of responsibil ity is not smply
the ceae-fire, but includes all violations coming under Article 2.1 above. Thus drictly
speing, the SLMM should be reporting on violations of the MoU. Moreover, including
abductions among violations while excluding forced conscription of children becomes
very misleading and arbitrary.

The MoU is inexplicably vague on certain matters. It does not provide explicitly for
civilians to make cmplaints. However, it does not necessarily mean a dilution of the
placeof civilians under the MoU. Indeed, the SLMM has been accepting complaints from
civilians. But there is no commitment in the MoU to indicate what the SLMM ought to
do with such complaints except perhaps ‘enquire’. The introduction to Article 3 obliges
the Parties (Government & LTTE) to 'co-operate fully with the SLMM to 'redify any
matter of conflict caused by their respective sdes. Meanwhile, 3.11 obliges the SLMM
'to take immnediate action' on complaints made by either party, to enquire and ‘assist the
Parties to settle disputes. There is no corresponding written obligation towards civilians.

The Royal Norwegian Government comes into the picture (Article 3.2) through its
authority to appoint the Head of the SLMM and to be the final arbiter on the
interpretation of the MoU (giving again a strong indicaion of the RNG's influence on its
contents).

Tedhnically therefore, one cannot fault the SLMM or the Norwegian government for
playing down child conscription, although not including it among violations is
guestionable. However, what is the reality on the ground? Article 2.1 is being flouted
with brazen impunity by the LTTE. Children resisting conscription are being beaen and
tortured. Often their parents themselves are subject to similar treatment. A girl escapeeis
beaen to deah. When the LTTE are unable to lay hands on a lady teader they go to her
house, bea up the father and force him to agreeto give his 10 year old son. Y oung boys
and girls forcibly removed from their homes are handed over to atrainer who is grossly
unfit to ded with helpless innocents (see Section 6, 28" May). The list goes on
depressingly.

These ae day-to-day occurrences in the East and the incidents presented by us are merely
a small sample. Listing them as violations under the MoU and not doing much about
them tangibly, even as the degreeand extent of the violations rise out of control, does not
add to the aedibility of the Norwegian government or the SLMM. Unlike courts of law,
puldic opinion and public confidence ae enttities not impressed by the small print of
agreements.

The MoU itself thus points to the cnceptual faults, priorities of the Norwegian
government and the Parties, and the rules observed by the SLMM. Norway has tried to
assert itself in humanitarian concerns, played a leading role in the UN Commisgon for



Human Rights, and is a signatory to the recently inaugurated International Criminal Court
(ICC). For a country with such experience, the grossiessof faults surrounding the MoU
cannot be set down as oversights arising from a pragmatic goproach. The RNG might
even find itself culpable in law inrelation to child conscription in Sri Lanka!

11.2 Child Conscription: Is Norway Culpable before International
Justice?

Both the governments of Sri Lanka and Norway are signatories to the Optiond Protocol
to the Convention onthe Rights of the Child. Accordingly they are both responsible for
ensuring that children below the age of 18 are not made party to armed conflict. In this
conrection, the following are included among the action points in the UN Seaetary
General's Report to the General Assembly on Children in Armed Conflict [A/56/342-
S/2001857:

4. The Seaurity Courcil may wish to ensure that mandéaes of peace operations explicitly
include provisions for monitoring the rights of children.

6. Regiond organsations are alled uponto institute mechansms for monitoring and
taking steps to curb the aoss-border movement of individuds and goups credibly
accused of having violated their child protedion commitments and obigations.

Norway's peacemisson here though not under the agis of the UN, was obliged to
resped minimum standards set by the UN. Why did Norway fail to include a child
protection mechanism into the MoU, given that it was well known to be an urgent need?
The isaue had after all merited a visit in 1998 ty the UN Special Representative dealing
with children, resulting in a formal commitment by the LTTE. Levels of forced child
conscription were also known to be high from August last yea (2001) and even while the
MoU was in preparation ealy this year. Moreover, the Norwegian minister dealing with
the peaceprocesswas aware of such concerns. Answering a question posed by the Daily
Mirror (28" March 02) on arecent Amnesty International report on child conscription by
the LTTE, Norway's Deputy Minister Helgesen replied:

"Yes, we have been asking them [the LTTE] whether this is the case. Theyare telling us
that it is not. We have not been in a paition to verify thison ou own. But our roleisto
try and kring this processforward. In the end if the Cease-fire Agreament halds, if there
isa pditi cal settlement, the courtry would benefit..."

We have discussed some agpects of this attitude before. But the very fad that the LTTE
had denied it to the Norwegians ould have made it all the more easier to include dild
protection in the MoU, at least in the interests of the RNG's good name. It cannot in view
of the LTTE's denial be said that such protection was excluded so as not to embarrass the
LTTE. Failing to include it, knowing that there was public concern, makes the MoU a
murky affair, disregarding minimum standards st by the UN.
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The RNG has by now had more than ample opportunity to verify this 'on their own'. The
SLMM spokesman Teitur Torkelson was recently quated by Reuters on the subjeat (11"
July 02): "I can tell you that in the Eadt, child reauitment and abdation are the
Misgon's most comnmon complaint. In Batticaloa and Ampara there are parents crying
outside the office evey morning". Is it not then ethically incumbent upon the RNG to
admit openly that they had bungled the MoU and demand redification? If not, the RNG
runs the danger of being held an accomplice aetting child conscription. Moreover, they
have placal several conscientious monitors on the ground, doing a frustrating job with
one hand tied behind, monitoring a highly defedive process

As for the other party, the Sri Lankan government, we can understand their avoidance of
child protection. Sri Lankan governments have observed very seledive notions of human
rights and democracy that do not improve when it concerns Tamils. Indeed, they have all
shown amazng lethargy in puiting their sleazy image behind them. The Government has
even attempted to ridicule well-founded allegations of child conscription by the LTTE
through its man Friday, the Defence Minister. For all the absurd risks they were prepared
to take in deding with the LTTE in this manner, the Government could have benefited
considerably by pladng itself on a higher moral plane by becoming party to the ICC. It
would have placel the LTTE in adifficult position. Why they have not done so is a good
guestion and ascary one & that.

According to an Al document on the ICC, the Court can try persons acaised of violations
of humanitarian law under Protocol Il of the Geneva Conventions, pertaining to internal
armed conflicts. Included among these is. Conscripting a enlisting children under the
age of 15into the armed forces or groups using themto participate activdy in hastiliti es.
There may be acase for parents of children under 15 abducted by the LTTE to proseaute
the Royal Norwegian Government, where the MoU had provided the cntext and
opportunity for such adion.

The UN Seaetary General's Action Point No.6 given above places the British and
Norwegian governments in a difficult situation. The LTTE Spokesman Anton
Balasingam claims to have the same mind as Prabhakaran and is a resident and citizen of
Britain. He made a trip to Sri Lanka recently in a special flight accompanied by a
Norwegian official. According to the Action Point above, both the Norwegian and the
British governments were obliged to curb his crossborder movements. He is, moreover,
liable for proseaution by the ICC on the issue of child conscription.

Legally however, culpability may be difficult to edtablish because of the intricae
technicdities involved. But if the RNG respeds the spirit of these international norms,
they have a moral responsibility to be far more vigilant and sensitive to the plight of the
victims. We now take afew instances where the conceptual and structural shortcomings
of the MoU vitiate the functioning of the SLMM and defea its good intentions. The first
instance below sheds further light on the structural problems of the SLMM.



11.3 The SLMM's Impact

11.3.1 SLMM seen from the ground:

We seehere the contradictions between an ambiguous MoU, expedations on the ground
and Norway's peace ajenda. The people on the ground naturally exped the SLMM to be
responsive to their concerns. Structurally, it is through the LMCs (Local Monitoring
Committees) that the people @n woice these. In Batticdoa where complaints have been
most numerous, some in the LMC have been working hard on human rights concerns.
The local expatriate members, though sympathetic, have laded the clout to get the LTTE
to honour its commitments.

Thus it is necessarily the Head of the SLMM who needs to push the LTTE to respect the
rules. For example, in the cae of the two children and the young bride (see Sedion 3),
the LMC has failed to get a meaningful LTTE response for threemonths and it is only the
head of the SLMM who stands a chance of forcing some adion. But nothing has
happened so far. On particular matters to do with civilians the SLMM's heal - the
General - had spoken to the LTTE and was confident that something gad will come, but
the opposite happened. Sithampar apil lai' s case below is one example.

What is particularly galling to those on the LM C who are not LT TE nominees isthat they
have been co-opted in a public relations exercise for the Norwegian and Sri Lankan
governments without being able to do much for the people. They are worthy citizens
giving their time and effort and have facal obstacles insurmountable & local level. The
hierarchy of the SLMM should have by now conferred with the LMC about the next step.
In more than four months of the SLMM's existence the General has not met the LMC asa
body once, even to find out the fate of the promises made to him by the LTTE.

Peaceultimately means providing opportunities and encouragement for the people to take
the initiative. A group of prominent citizens in Batticaloa mustered the urage of
conviction to seek an appointment with the General to raise some aitical issues. They
were given just 10 minutes. They went to the meding with an unsigned memorandum
identifying themselves as the PeacelLoving Citizens of Batticaloa. Among the issues
addressed were child conscription, abduction and extortion. Some who slipped in a little
late were ticked off on military punctuality. The General noted the mntents of their
memorandum. But no time was allowed for any discusson. It was not a meding between
equals.

LMC meetings are moreover taken up with matters that cause misgivings among those
mainly concerned about the rights of the people. Among the most time consuming
matters pertain to the seaurity forces having to vacde puldic buildings. This is a matter
under the MoU that hardly bothers the people. The seaurity forces have been in
occupeation of the premises for 12 yeas and nealy all the government departments and
schoals had built or found alternative premises and settled down. The seaurity forces are
obliged by the MoU to find some government land neaby and pu up new structures. It
has little meaning now and can wait for a negotiated settlement.
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Everyone is also aware that the LTTE's real intention is to throw the seaurity forces out
and is unhappy about their relocating in the same aea So neither does all this painful
discussion solve the problem of a bad MoU. The LTTE's new demand coming before the
monitors is 'demilitarisation d the government' that has no place in the MoU. It is also
painfully evident at LMC meetings that there is no ched on the LTTE's occupation of
premises in its areas of control and things are only slightly better in the government
controlled area

Nor has the SLMM found any way to ched the LTTE's blatant disregard for the MoU.
The LTTE has now set up offices in the government-controlled area and is only
marginally less inhibited in its adions. But no one else, not even the UNP has been able
to set up a party officein the LTTE controlled area Indeed, members, ex-members and
suspeded supporters of Tamil opposition parties visiting their families in the LTTE-
controlled areaor simply passing through in public transport have been detained by the
LTTE inviolation of basic conditions of the MoU.

Working under these mnditions has imbued the more cnscientious LMC members with
a sense of futility and pessmism, of simply having been used. The SLMM led by the
General went to Interior Batticaloa on 10" July, and in talks with senior LTTE leaders
did raise several issues like child conscription that some LMC members had pusued
vigorously. Mr.Sinniah, an LTTE nominee on the LMC, had also accompanied the
General. However, no debriefing was given to the LMC as a body, although the issues
taken up were concerns raised by them.

The citizens who had come forward to raise these isaues too had to find out from Reuters,
which interviewed the SLMM, or the Jungle Telegraph. It may of course be agued that
communicaing with such concerned citizens is not necessary. However, following
Norway's intervention, these people ae literally besieged by the LTTE, they fac
additional hazads and their room to manoeuvre has been curtailed. When people among
them take significant risks to make representations to the Monitoring Misson, they need
to be kept reasaured. If not Norway's confidence buil ding exercise does not include them.

11.3.2 Tamil Opposition Parties and the MoU:

The position in which these parties have been placed suggests that either the Norwegian
and Sri Lankan governments had not done their homework or they were being cynical.
The latter appeas to be the ase. We hold political pluralism a sacred principle not
because politicians are saints, but becaise it is esential for the healthy resolution of
social conflicts. The Tamil parties opposed to the LTTE have been part of the country's
political mainstream for some time.

The MoU should have eplicitly adknowledged their position and guaranteed their
seaurity. Instead the oblique reference to them as paramilitary groups to be disarmed has
been unhelpful and unfair. It did not take into acount the history of internal terror
inflicted on the community by the LTTE. Nor did it take into consideration the political
reality in the North-East or the nea impossibility of any independent forces challenging
the LTTE’s politico-military agenda.
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The killing of Neelan Thiruchelvam, by a suicide bomber in the yea 200Q was the final
straw that turned the TULF, with other 'democratic’ segments like the ACTC, into
grovelling supplicants. Almost all one-time “paramilitary” outfits sich as TELO, and
EPRLF(S) eventually cowed down. They all became vocal agents of the political agenda
of their erstwhile ach tormentor. Indeed, there ae mwmplex considerations at work apart
from their capitulation to terror. But terror was among the reasons which enabled them to
stifle their conscience with the slogan “forget the past” (note, they did not say forgive,
who are they to forgive the LTTE, only LTTE have the divine power to forgive
themselves!).

The same terror and fea for their existence forced many of these groups to seek
patronage in turn from the Indian and Sri Lankan states. Sections from these groups
functioned as paramilitary units (e.g. TELO, PLOTE (Mohan) & EPRLF (Razik Group)).
Several of the ex-militant groups ught to rebuild their political base by demanding a
political solution to the @nflict and at the same time aligned with the Army at a certain
level in deding with the LTTE. The EPRLF(V) became less dependent on the State and
tried to sudtain itself by rediscovering its Marxist roots. This complex politicd reality
encompassing the logic of violence neals to be negatiated, if we ae serious about a just
peace

The present peace process is mainly about maintaining a fragile truce between the
GoSL and the LTTE, in the belief that the many intricate issues that have not been
addressed will resolve themselves in the process of confidence building. However,
the present processis reinforcing the deleterious ideological milieu in Tamil society
that is counter to the aim of a just peace. Those behind the Government and the LTTE
talk about ‘forgetting the past' in a perfunctory manner that is far from repenting it. But
these adors at the gpex of power demand only that the people and the victims forget the
past. They hold onto their right to be vindictively unforgetful. They have not accepted the
right of others to their independence and their memory. It is under this dispensation that
many Tamil parties went to the LTTE on bended knee We give below a quaation that
touches on the conditions for ajust peace

“T he issue surroundng forgivenessand nd forgiving has two aspeds — a psychological and a pditical
factor. Very often we have the tendency to orly view forgivenessfrom a psychological perspective. We have
failed to integrate a hdistic approach o forgiveness as a result of which we orntinue to experience the
fact that polities are often trandated ard determined by the higtorical collective fear and suffering of a
people. The failure of confronting political forgiveness has only helped legitimize injustice and
suppresson. Is it posshle for forgiveness to become a pdlitical virtue? The passvity of pdlitical
forgiveness has enabled the power relationship to remain urchanged. Only when one starts confronting
this aspect of forgiveness can the existing power relations change — it needs a clear mind and memory.”

“ Forgivenesscannot be interchanged with forgetting. It is often the powers that be that advocate *forgive
and forget.’ It is a contradiction in its terms. Forgetting the atrocities and crimes would be worse than
forgiving the aimina who seels forgiveness because forgetting the aimes devalues the humanity that
perished andsuffered in thase atrocities. Further if one forgets, the act of forgivenessnolonger remains a
conscious action of intention — it becomes cheap. It is important not to forget the past; otherwise
forgivenesswould be meaninglessbut it is important that one does not get trapped in the memory of that
past, otherwise one will nat be able to find their place in the dhanged future. Forgiving is not to convert
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wronginto right. It is nat to justify the wrong dane andtherefore it isimperative not to confuse forgiveness
with forgetting for it may be interpreted as ‘mercy.’ Forgivenessis appropriate only when it is consistent
with self-respect and dgnity of the victim andthe perpetrator. [Miracles of Grace- Philosophy and
Praxis of Renciliation, by Akim Longchari]

It is under this very unforgiving environment that the plight of the LTTE's opponents
must be viewed. In pradice, the MoU, acknowledges only the LTTE's right to do political
work. LTTE members by Article 1.19 enjoy freemovement in the government-controll ed
aress, technicdly unarmed, but with no effedive ched on their adivities. Abductions
and intimidation are part of the order in the East. Threas against opposition parties at
public gatherings, medings and through anonymous calls have beame routine. People
are being threaened not to go to them.

These opposition parties, particularly the EPRLF(V) and EPDP, are getting little credit or
help for sticking to their positions and not running away. Even their ability to distribute
their newspapers is being undermined. The SLMM can get the LTTE to lift any ban such
as which it twice imposed on the EPDP's Thinamurasu. But then like it does in
democratic Toronto, the LTTE's 'political’ goons have only got to warn the newsagents
and transporters. This is very different from campaigning legitimately for people not to
buy the paper. These are papers many people want to buy and the MoU is progressively
taking away the little freedom they had for diversity of information and opinion.

One example will show how little they matter in the monitoring arrangements. When two
LTTE men were assaulted in Velanai on 20" June, by persons o far not identified, the
SLMM was quick to express concern and ask the Government for a commisson of
inquiry. However, Suman of the EPRLF(V) was abducted by the LTTE on the eve of the
signing of the MoU. We hope the SLMM would respond to these issues with greaer
eanestness. Up to this time, they have not made any observations on the matter. And
now things are getting worse.

Recent abductions: The following abductions have been reported to the SLMM by the
EPDP:

Dharman Balamurali (23), Saraiady, Pt. Pedro, member of EPDP; 9" May: Abducted in
Puthukkudiyiruppu Vanni, while visiting sister, Mrs. Dharmalatha Ragupathy, by a
party led by Inbam of the LTTE. Wife, Sathyabhavani, informed by sister several
weeks later.

Navaratnam Shanker (30), Navanthurai, Jaffna, pavement hawker and father of two
children, left EPDP in 1999 Boarded a bus in Jaffna on 8" July to visit mother in
Thambiluvil, EP. Taken off the bus by LTTE in Muhamalai, Jaffna Peninsula. Wife:
Lukes Rumina (27).

Nimalshanker (27), Ariyalai, Jaffna, former leader Student Union, University of Jaffna
and Petroleum Corporation employee Taken off bus at Puliyankulam by the LTTE on 2™
July while returning from a promotion related interview in Colombo.



Kandasamy Saskumar (20), Karampon, Kayts, left EPDP 6 months ealier: Taken off a
bus in Yakkachchi, Jaffna Peninsula on 6" July while travelling to Colombo to go
abroad.

Mrs. Suhirthakala Sivagnanam and the Wife Beaters. Suhirthakala (28) went with her
husband Murugesu Sivagnanam (35) and their 4-year-old son and a family friend
Sivaruban on 12" July to visit Sivagnanam's elder sister, mother and brother in
Karuvakerni, near Valaichenai. Sivagnanam, who has been a long time member of the
EPRLF (V) and is a local council candidate for the Valaichenai TC elections, noticed
some LTTE men observing them. At nightfall he took the precaution of sitting away from
the house while talking to his sister. About 7.30 PM the LTTE's local intelligence leader
Tharanan Thivakaran surrounded the house with ten of his men, including Nalliah,
Kannan and Naharasa.

Sivagnanam head a cmmotion and a harsh exchange of words. His sister asked him to
run saying that she would look after the home front. He ran to the home of a neighbour
who boldly helped him to go to the EPRLF (V) office in Valaichenai. Together with
some people there, they got help from the Policeto go to Sivagnanam's mother's place to
find out what happened to the others. They found Suhirthakala in a aitical state dter
being mauled by the LTTE.

Not finding Sivagnanam the LTTE men had dragged his wife ahundred yards from the
house and belaboured her with wooden poles demanding her husband. Suhirthakala
pleaded that she was three months pregnant. The LTTE men pushed her on the ground
trampled her and stood on her. They left her semi-conscious with injuries on her head,
shoulders and chest and took the visitor' bags and money with them. Suhirthakala was
rushed to Valaichenai Hospital for urgent medical care and then transferred to Batticaloa
Hospital. In hospital awoman LTTE agent dressed in yellow went to her and warned her
not to talk too much and not to talk out of turn. The LTTE also visited Sivagnanam's
mother and demanded that she hand over her son.

The SLMM hasrightly expressed indignation and condemnation in strong terms when the
LTTE abducted two of its Nordic monitors a mid-night on 13" July. This happened
when they boarded for examination an LTTE trawler that had been intercepted off Jaffna
by the SL Navy. The LTTE forcibly took the monitors along as hostages to escgpe from
the SL Navy and released them in Kill inochchi. For the SLMM it was a revelation. An
SLMM press release quoted its chief General Furuhovde describing the incident as a
'major blow to the trust of the SLMM in the LTTE'. He further described it as
‘irresponsible behaviour' requiring the LTTE to do much to 'rebuild the people's
confidence in the organsation'! It is now time for redity and some indignation on what
ordinary people of this poor country have to contend with.

11.3.3 The Spiking of Local Monitoring Committees:

Eadch Local Monitoring Committee is headed by an expatriate and has two LTTE
nominees and two government nominees. In a situation where the violations are in the
main by the LTTE against the civilians, the onus of representing the latter has fallen on
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the government nominees, if they choose to accept the role. When violations against
civilians come up before aan LMC, the role of the LTTE nominees, often respedable
social figures, was described thus by an insider: "They will admit nothing and argue
against everything".

The original intention was perhaps that the LTTE nominees would be fairly reasonable
men who would convince the LTTE and smocthen the path to deding with it. In reality
they have hardly wrested any concessons from the LTTE, which uses them as agentsin a
crude game. We have seen this in cases of child conscription before the SLMM. We
further refer to the cae of Mr.Sithamparapillai, the 82-year-old gentleman from
Batticaoa, who was abducted for ransom by the LTTE (seeSpecial Report No.13).

Sithamparapillai was released from the astody of the LTTE's Chief Extortioner
Athiamman on 30" April, on the same day the Head, SLMM, paid a ll on them. An
apparent success for the SLMM. However, Athiamman had already discovered that the
bank would not release the money unless the victim called in person, and had freed
Sithamparapillai on the understanding that he would get the money from the bank.
Nevertheless the SLMM told Sithamparapillai that he need not pay the LTTE any
money. This they did on asaurances given to them by very senior LTTE figures that he
would not be harassed.

However, Sithamparapillai continued to receve messages demanding money. This he
conveyed to Fr. Harry Miller, a member of the LMC. Mr. Lars Tidbed, who headed the
LMC, then issued a public statement stating that Sithamparapillai was being harassed by
the LTTE notwithstanding assurances given to them. At a more general level the LTTE
was asked to mend its ways with the civilian population.

The same day this gatement appeared, 11" May, we learn from local media sources that
two media men, Uthayakumar of BBC Tamil serviceand G. Nadesan of the Virakesari,
and Mr.Sinnaiah of the LMC, had a meding with the LTTE's local political hea,
Thurai. Its purpose was to discuss means to counter Tidbeck's gatement. Duly, Sinnaiah
met Sithamparapilai at his house and persuaded him to retract any claims that he had
been harassed by the LTTE, asthe price for ending harassment and demands for money.
He was also asked to stop communicating with Fr. Miller.

The next day, Sunday 12" May, Sinniah went to Sithamparapil lai's in the morning. To the
latter's bewilderment, he brought journalists and equipment along as for a press
conference Mr. Sinniah also added in the curse of the interview that Karikalan who is
the regional heal of the LTTE regretted that the Mission had issied a statement without
obtaining their version. The BBC broadcast of this conference also made the point that
Mr.Sithamparapillai had never complained officially to the SLMM, that in fad his
children had done so.

Subsequently the demands for money started again. Harassing telephone cals were made

and on 21 May 2002 around 800 PM an unidentified person went to
Mr.Sithamparapil lai's house and utered deah threas. Next day, 22" May, around 8:00
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PM there was a grenade explosion at his house, where no one was hurt. The LTTE
suggested that the Police had caused the explosion. However, everyone knew without a
shred of doubt the messenger and the message. Friends and relatives became scared of
visiting his home. Sithamparapillai paid up Rs.10 lakhs (Rs10,000,00~$10000) to
Athiyaman for temporary relief. The LTTE's policy in all matters is to concede nothing
and to harass and frustrate the SLMM and all who persist in wanting redress It has
effedively co-opted the media and its nominees on the LMC to this end.

Mr.Sithamparapillai’s case is not an isolated one. The “Reconciliation Committee” has
been sending letters signed by one Vijayan to many in the government-controlled areas
reguesting them to make apilgrimage acossthe lagoon and meet Athiyaman. Many are
going and reaonciling themselves to the fate of the present peaceprocessby handing over
their houses and grandiose sums of money. Few are prepared to complain to the LMC.

11.3.4 The Vaharai incident, 1°' May

In our Special Report No.13 we referred to the incident above pertaining to gunrunning
by the LTTE. The SLMM's datement was carried in the Daily Mirror of 14" May 20
under the front-page headline 'S_LMM clears Govt-LTTE ove Vaharai'. The SLMM's
Acting Head Hagrup Haukland was quoted thus: "According to Article 1.3 o the
Cease-fire Agreament the S'i Lankan Navy exeauted its legiti mate task in intercepting the
suspeded trawlers and it was proved that one of the trawlers ill egally carried mortar
shells and RPGs, but no finding linked the trawiers to ary of the Parties. Consequently,
neither of the Parties can ke blamed for the violation of the cease-fire agreament.”

Arguably ned, but it has evaded the main problem. There is no doubt that the LTTE was
gunrunning, but it was a grey areaof the MoU. Article 1.3 recognises the Navy's right to
safeguard the country's Svereignty and territorial integrity without engaging in offensive
adion. Meanwhile Article 1.7 forbids the Parties from moving munitions, explosives and
military equipment into the aea ontrolled by the other Party. References to areas of
control in 1.4 and 1.5 make no mention of the sea. The whole matter thus rests in a grey
areauntil resolved. According to 3.2 of the MoU, the authority to resolve the matter rests
with the Royal Norwegian Government. Hence the SLMM wanting to avoid the matter at
that stage is understandable, given its nsitivity.

The main problem as we see it isto do with the protection of civilians whether or not the
Parties are in armed conflict. Two civilians were killed and one was injured in the same
incident. The main isaue is what has the SLMM done to make life safer for civilians in
the event of such confrontations. Excerpts from military dispatches presented by Igbal
Athas in the Sundhy Times of 13" May 2002 taken together with the material fad that
just one fishing trawler was sunk (apart from the one that exploded) makesit clea that it
was the Navy that killed the fishermen. The circumstances given leal one to conclude
that the adion taken had no justification whatsoever. Thisis dealt with in the Appendix.

That is not all. Haukland's gatement suggests that the trawler with the three fishermen
that was destroyed, though ot referred to explicitly, was a suspected trawler, and no
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trawler was found linked to the LTTE. This also implies that the SLMM discounts the
Navy's story that the LTTE fired at them from this trawler (see Athas article or
Appendix). Doesthe SLMM consider sinking an unarmed, but merely 'suspeded’, trawler
a'legitimate’ adion by the Navy? The SLMM's position here gpeas patently defedive.
The SLMM might of course ague technically that someone other than the LTTE may
have fired at the Navy.

Such a supposition would be to introduce unwarranted complicaions. Even where the
military dispatch quoted by Athas does not mention the LTTE explicitly, it was only the
LTTE they had in mind as the hostile party. This is clea in their reference to intercepted
LTTE transmissions.

The circumstances of the Navy's adion in shooting at fishing vessels carrying civilians
and the excerpts from the dispatches fail to provide aedible evidence of the LTTE firing
at the Navy. However, the Navy's adion falls among the foibles of frustrated men with
destructive power at their command.

The second LTTE boat had escgped into shallow water bypassing vessels of fishermen
plying their trade. This would have prevented the Navy from getting closer without
knowing the true disposition of these vessels. In their irritation they simply let loose.

12. Conscription and its Consequences: Facing Reality

In the North-East especially, the people neaded a bresk and a dose of optimism to get on
with life. The ceae-fire provided such a pretext. In the East, any optimism was short-
lived. In Jaff na, the people were anxious about the return of the LTTE. Their worst feas
waned sincethe LTTE's presence was lessnoticeable to the aticulate middle-classand its
doings evoked less sandal in comparison with the East. Hence many in Jaffna cling to
the hope that this time round the peaceprocesswould bring some stability. The optimists
are preparing hopefully for stable life under the LTTE, at the price of not being sticklers
for human rights.

It is like the few golden months in 199Q It seemed that life could go on if one decided
not to notice adisappearance in the neighbourhood o some fellow passenger being
unloaded from a bus and led away shivering. Such an attitude comes naturally when
people see no alternative. And so they get irritated and angry about the Army cutting
precious palmyrah and coconut trees to make or repair their bunkers. Moreover, it
disturbs their optimism. This optimism can ke sustained only by ignoring doings in the
East. These doings for the civilians in the North are asemndary concern, and the Tamil
media has succealed in kegping them almost in total ignorance.

However, the writing is clealy on the wall even in the North. The University of Jaffna
has been brought under totalitarian control and there is no avenue for the students to
discuss the present reality and their political future. Many acalemics are anxious that the
present process ought to be direded towards a political settlement and lasting peace



Unable to discuss options in the real world, they cling to Thimpu principles and
nationhood in the abstrad.

Arriving at a political framework entail s confronting difficult ground realities and making
compromises. It is today that sound leadership and gpen discussion are most needed. The
Tamils nedl to face the fad that in resped of them, the Muslims face today a problem
comparable with that faced by Tamils in respect of the Sinhalese in 1983 The bolder
individuals, who ought to speak uprejecting the palitics of the LTTE, arefalling silent, as
fea becomes the dominant trend.

Outsiders and international agencies concerned too need something to fuel their optimism
about their programmes and ideas. The North, the once forbidden land, is now open and
that is where most visitors go. Its date of desolation with a promising people brought low
by the combined depredations of the State and the Fascists would realily ignite anyone's
pity and petronising ingtincts. The LTTE knows how to use it. Dilapidated school
buildings, the visitors will be told, are dl the fault of the State. They would not be told
that educational allocaions and monies coming from the Government, even when
inadequate, were used to order furniture for the LTTE and build their establishments and
police stations - easily the most photogenic buildings in the Vanni.

In selling itself to outsiders as the future rulers of the North-East, the LTTE tried to
impress on them its tting up of a police force ad a system of courts. In fad the only
development in twelve yeas of LTTE control in the Vanni is to do with its coercive
machinery that is an outcrop of its military structures and shea extortion. Tamil society
is not like something out of Somalia or Rural Nepal. It is dominated by many able
lawyers and professionals. It is not difficult for the LTTE to show a semblance of
sophisticaion in running their affairs. But when it comes to suppressing dissent or laying
their iron fist, their primeval brutality knows no bounds.

The distilled essence of the LTTE was vividly brought home to a journalist in
conversation with the medical officer at a dilapidated Vanni hospital that had also
suffered war damage. The government doctor said almost apologetically that the LTTE
have their own hospital with advanced fadlities, where any condition can be treaed. The
journalist asked hhm why he did not request the LTTE to help them. The doctor replied in
surprise, "Who am | to ask them?"

However, for adivists from outside looking for an opening to work with the LTTE and
influence them for the better, its few structures dealing with civilians appea a good
starting point. The LTTE's apparent responsiveness becomes also a cause for optimism.
To think otherwise would be to deprive those in the North of their tenuous hold on hope.
One can more eaily share in such hope if the North were the only part of the story. The
East may be stale and commonplace but that is where the wre of the drama is taking
shape.

What is happening in the East isthe LTTE cannibalising what is left of Tamil society, its
soul and civil structures and raising the stakes for a final showdown. Its primary motive
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may not be to fight an adual war, but the process is inherently destabilising for an
organisation that was never stable. The uninhibited brutality used to deter conscripts from
escgping that we have recrded, and the need to stir up anti-Muslim passons to counter
popular resentment, are manifestations of this instability. This is another stage in the
auto-genocidal impulse of the LTTE's political progress

In building upthis huge explosive potential in the East, the LTTE has lost all sensitivity
to basic human values. The Government and Norway have pursued a will-o-the-wisp and
do not want to face up to the gravity of this potential that they have exacerbated. The
International Community too iswillingto put money into soft options like engaging with
and counselling the LTTE, but whether that alone would persuade the LTTE to unwind
its destructive build up reeals to be questioned. What will have an effed would require a
series of pressures calling for an adequate politicd settlement from the Southern polity
and at the same time aipplingthe LTTE's overseas arms aqquisition and logistics.

Unfortunately however, most outsiders take a gnical view of the Government and the
Sinhalese polity that have through twenty yeas of aaute aisis failed to convince the
Tamils or the rest of the world that they are serious about an adequate political
settlement. The present government remains a prisoner of its duplicity while in
opposition and has said different things at different fora. Why should others lose sleg to
help those who are singularly inept at helping themselves?

As for the LTTE, individual ambassadors and political seaetaries may fed strong
repugnancetowards it, but they would also feel inhibited from doing much because of the
supineness of the Sinhalese polity. In the meantime they would have other interests too
that would determine their carea advancement, where something tangible can be
adhieved for their national interest. To take one example, Sri Lanka is under considerable
pressure to commercialise its rich bio-diversity. There is also concerted resistance locally.
On the other hand, a Sri Lanka paralysed and impoverished by war is more likely to
yield. From this narrow perspedive Prabhakaran would be an ally of those who would
like to seethis country mortgaged. They would have more to gain by playing with him
rather than by terminating his caree.

But in the meantime this country would be ruined and the Tamils ruined utterly. The
LTTE's politicd outreath may be laughable and its bankruptcy may appea a mere
peccalillo to be crreded by good advice But the die was cast long ago and we are
witnessing helplesdy the unstoppable caastrophic effects of this politics. The Tamil
militant groups that had a broader political vision had been clea that one @uld not
pursue Tamil liberation by bringing ruin on the Muslims, the Sinhalese and on Sri Lanka
asawhole.

Even more lamentable is the political vision of the present government. Its pursuit of
peaceis a aude affair based on giving the LTTE a free run in the North-East and
depending particularly on the US to curb its more extreme ambitions. It is again founded



on the late President Jayewardene's naive belief that the West will not let down the UNP.
Thereal road to peacehowever begins here with some hard political choices.

The ned for a political settlement addressing the real needs of the Tamil people annot
be over-stressed. Many who have seen the ineptnessand brutality of the State over many
decales, would simply seethe LTTE as areaction to it that has taken on alife of its own.
From this perspeaive, if the problems of the Tamils are aldressed honestly, there is no
need to talk to the LTTE or appease them, and no neal for war. While this view
simplifies the institutional charader of the LTTE, the Sinhalese extremists are on the
contrary obsessed with its power and its trappings of an incipient state. This blinds them
to the cry of the Tamil people and spurs them into actions that perpetuate the LTTE's
politics.

The immediate @ncern in the event of a resumption of war concerns the fate of
thousands of conscripts, most of them children, who would be thrown into the flames as
unwilling cannon fodder. It is too much to exped the Government to worry about
strategies to deal with such an eventuality. Nor does one see the kind of enlightenment
required to ensure that the seaurity forces resped the rights and dignity of non-combatant
Tamil civilians. The Defence Minister, unfortunately like his forerunner Ranjan
Wijeratne, has been delegated to spend valuable time @vering upfor the LTTE. What we
are witnessing today is a seady affair that will nose-dive into tragedy and is symptomatic
of arrogancethat remains totally insensitive to the minorities.

On the ground we see aturn for the worse. We have seen planned attacks on Muslims in
the East for which the Defence Minister with other members of the Government have
been exonerating the LTTE (e.g. Sunday Times political column, 14.7.02). The
conscription of children and the auelties inflicted on escgpees in the East and their
parents has taken a turn for the worse (seelatter reports in Sedion 6). Harassment of the
Tamil opposition with abductions too has shown a qualitative change for the worse in
July (seeend of 11.3.2).

Everything must be done to preserve the peace process But prudence demands of
concerned sedions of the International Community to be a<rtive in preventing the
LTTE from using this processto tighten its grip on society and drive it towards war.
There is a good opportunity to demand that the Southern polity deliver something
concrete and meaningful to the Tamils. However, the LTTE’s reason for avoiding this
course is very clear.

Mr. Olara Otunnu, the Special Representative for Children and Armed Conflict isduein
Sri Lanka next month. Asusual the LTTE will pretend that nothing is amiss or make
some pretence d dealing with the problem. We will have promises and declarations. But
what we need to Sop this tragedy isa concerted effort by all sedions from the UN to the
Norwegians and other civil society organizations. They need to follow up and fashion
mechanisms to stop child conscription and release those already taken in.

*kkkkkk

6€



Appendix
The Vaharai Incident Seen Through Military Dispatches

The incident took place in clea visibility, beginning well before sunset on Wednesday 1%
May 2002 The initial confusion about the incident is far from over, and the SLMM
statement, which appeaed on 14" May, did nothing to clarify matters. Much could
however be inferred from the dispatches of the Army's 23 Division that are the basis of
Igbal Athas defence feaure in the Sunda Times of 19" May 2002

With referenceto the LTTE boat that was presumably exploded to avoid seizure, a
dispatch says. 'Naval troops deteded two suspicious fishing bats paositioned three
nautical miles east of Vakarai, which were proceeding towards the land The fishing
boas did na stop when challenged onclosing upfor inspedion. One boat exploded itself
at 1740 hous. In the meantime the second bod beached appoximately six miles uth
of Vakarai.'

The second boat was evidently fast enough to evade the navy's craft unlike the first. We
may assume it beached around 1750hours. The next events described in the same
dispatch took placeafter a gap of several minutes. " The beached bod then started to
move north towards Vakarai. At 1835 hows naval troops deteded andher suspicious
fishing baat positioned 4.5 nauical miles east of Vakarai. On closing upfor inspedion,
the boa hadfired at naval bods. Seveal attempts were made to stop the boat, but fail ed.
In the meantime naval troops retali ated in self defenceresulting in the suspicious boa
exploding andit remained adaze for seveal hous."

This dispatch acounts for two boats that went up in flames and sank. The testimony
given by fishermen to the SLMM too speaks of two boats going upin flames of which
one, and one alone, was acounted for as belonging to fishermen who were in the aea
The other, the first to go upin flames, we may conclude, was one of the two LTTE boats.

Those in the second boat that sank were Mohamed Sabeek, Mohamed Hyath and Noor
Mohamed Nasee from Valaichenai, of whom only Nasee survived to testify. He too
gave the time they were hit by the Navy as 6.30 PM and also said that 3 or 4 navy boats
fired at them. Both the dispatch, as well as Nasea's testimony, suggest that this boat was
isolated from the 13 aher fishing boatsin the aea Thisis explained by the fact that
Nasea and companions were fishing from an anchored boat in deep waters, while most
of the others were diving for seaslugs in shallower waters.

There ae no reasonable grounds to accept the Navy's gory that they were fired at form
Nasea's isolated, slow moving, or even anchored, vessl. But it happened in the context
of the beached second LTTE vessel escaping northwards.

According to another military dispatch cited by Athas, this ssoond vessel was beached

300to 400 metres from the government-controlled shore just north of Mankerni. This
was sen by ground troops. A Naval Sub Unit (NSU), vesls jointly manned by army
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and navy personnel, was sent to interdict the beached vessel. The dispatch proceals. "By
the time it was noticed that the suspeded tramer commenced movement towards the
north. Only one naval craft was able to apgoach 25meters to the suspeded tramer”.

The dispatch adds that contrary to instructions the naval vessel aborted its misson to
seizethe trawler in which there were four persons in civilian clothes, and turned bad. It
does not give any credible reason for this failure. It is Igbal Athaswho says at the
beginning of his piece " A near confrontation developed between the guerill as andthe
Navy-Army group &ter the former hadthreatened to open fire if theyinterfered with the
trawler.” Athas asks: "Were they[the NSU] ordered to do so or takethe dedsion
themselves? Istheir claimthat their craft deveoped engine problems corred?”

None of the excerpts from the dispatches, or even Athas, provide dired testimony of any
other LTTE boats having keen on the scene except the two trawlers involved in
gunrunning. Athas however adds: " A confrontation occurred between guerrill a bods
which had arived to seaure the seaondfishing trawler and naval boats which pursued it,
but foundit difficult to get closer to the shorein view of the shallow draught. Withou a
doult, fishing boats...in the \cinity were caugh in the aossfire, thoudhit is difficult to
establi sh whether theywere hit by guerilla or navy gunfire”.

This could not of course have gplied to the sunken fishing boat from which two
fishermen were killed. This boat was well i solated from others and further out. Moreover,
the Navy's version was that they were fired at from this 'suspicious fishing boat', not from
some sleek seaTiger boat that had come out to confront them.

It is quite possible that some SeaTiger boats arrived on the scene and positioned
themselves to protect the second trawler. But neither the Navy nor the fishermen on the
scene have claimed that the Navy hit or sank any such boat. It certainly looks bad that the
Navy '‘confronted’ the Tigers and managed to sink only a harmless fishing vessel and
damage other fishing boats, giving the survivorsthe scare of their life. Telling the truth
would have been safer for the Navy's reputation.

* The University Teachers for Human Rights (Jaffna) (UTHR(J)) was formed in 1988 at the University of Jaffna, as
part of the national organisation University Teachers for Human Rights. Its public activities as a congtituent part of
university life cameto a standstill following the murder of Dr. Rajani Thiranagama, a key founding member, on 21%
September 1989. During the course of 1990 the others who identified openly with the UTHR(J) were forced to leave
Jaffna. It continues to function as an organisation upholding the founding spirit of the UTHR(J) with it original
aims

To challenge the external and internal terror engulfing the Tamil community as a whole through making the
per petrators accountable, and to create space for humanising the social & political spheresrelating to thelife of our
community. The UTHR(J) isnot at present functioning in the University of Jaffnain the manner it did in its early
life for reasons well understood. The work of UTHR(J) receives support from the European Human Rights
Foundation among others.
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